# **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter now, including display on the World Wide Web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis.

Rohini Neha Guin

December 8, 2020

# Intertumoral and Intratumoral Heterogeneity of Cancer: Types, Causes, Detection, and Clinical Implications

by

Rohini Neha Guin

Periasamy Selvaraj

Adviser

Department of Biology

Periasamy Selvaraj

Adviser

Khalid Salaita

Committee Member

Eladio Abreu

Committee Member

Ramireddy Bommireddy

Committee Member

Luis Munoz

Committee Member

2021

# Intertumoral and Intratumoral Heterogeneity of Cancer: Types, Causes, Detection, and Clinical Implications

By

Rohini Neha Guin

Periasamy Selvaraj

Adviser

An abstract of a thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Science with Honors

Biology

2021

#### Abstract

# Intertumoral and Intratumoral Heterogeneity of Cancer: Types, Causes, Detection, and Clinical Implications

# By Rohini Neha Guin

Intertumoral and intratumoral heterogeneity of cancers pose significant challenges to the development of effective antineoplastic therapies. Tumors contain a complex admixture of different clonal populations, each of which may vary in their mechanisms of proliferation and maintenance. The latest technology developments in the genomic and proteomic areas further define tumor heterogeneity at the molecular level, making it feasible to develop personalized treatment approaches. This review will highlight the types of heterogeneity, the ways in which heterogeneity arises, and how heterogeneity can be evaluated. Further, this review will explore current and emerging immunotherapies and personalized treatment strategies to best overcome tumor heterogeneity.

# Intertumoral and Intratumoral Heterogeneity of Cancer: Types, Causes, Detection, and Clinical Implications

By

Rohini Neha Guin

Periasamy Selvaraj

Adviser

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Emory College of Arts and Sciences of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Bachelor of Science with Honors

Department of Biology

2021

# Table of Contents

Intro	duction1
I.	Types of Cancer Heterogeneity2-22
	Figure 1. The different levels of tumor heterogeneity2-3
	Genetic Heterogeneity
	Transcriptional Heterogeneity7-8
	Epigenetic Heterogeneity9-11
	Cellular Tumor Microenvironmental Heterogeneity11-18
	Spatial and Structural Heterogeneity19-20
	Metastatic Heterogeneity20-22
	Macroenvironmental Heterogeneity
II.	Causes of Tumor Heterogeneity
	Figure 2. Clonal Evolution and Cancer Stem Cell Hypotheses
	Clonal Evolution Hypothesis24
	Cancer Stem Cell Hypothesis
	Other Hypothesized Models of Tumor Evolution
	Genomic Instability27-28
III.	Methods for Evaluating Heterogeneity
	Tumor Heterogeneity Algorithms
	Invasive Sampling Approaches
	Non-Invasive and Minimally Invasive Approaches
IV.	Therapeutic Approaches to Overcome Heterogeneity
	Synthetic Lethality

Limitations of Target Therapies	34-35
Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors	35
Whole Cell and Membrane-Based Vaccines	
Dendritic Cell Vaccines	
Adoptive Cell Transfer	
Oncolytic Viruses	40-41
Conclusion	41-42
Works Cited	

# Introduction

Cancer refers to a group of heterogeneous diseases that can originate from multiple cell types. Cancer cells are distinguished from normal cells through the display of the following hallmarks: uncontrolled growth, resisting cell death, evading growth suppressors, enabling replicative immortality, inducing angiogenesis, and activating invasion and metastasis (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011). The intrinsic and extrinsic factors leading to these hallmarks vary among individuals, resulting in genetic mutations that vary from person-to-person.

Recent advances in sequencing and bioinformatics have been instrumental in revealing the genetic diversity of cancers (Andor et al., 2012, Beck, 2015, Jiang et al., 2016). Genomic studies have also uncovered the complex clonal landscape of tumors (Shah et al., 2012, Siravegna et al., 2015). The observed variation across cancer cell populations is called tumor heterogeneity. These clones may also differ across patient populations and within the same patient, resulting in intertumoral heterogeneity and intratumoral heterogeneity, respectively.

The dynamic evolution of cancer cells can cause cells of one bulk tumor mass to harbor distinct molecular signatures and differential sensitivities to antineoplastic therapies. Highlighting these tumor heterogeneities is a central goal of this review. We also aim to address the factors that underlie the acquisition and maintenance of intertumoral and intratumoral heterogeneity. Further, we summarize methods for quantifying and evaluating heterogeneity, in addition to methods for diagnosing and treating a particular subtype of cancer. Finally, we highlight various therapeutic approaches employed to overcome tumor heterogeneity, a considerable barrier to anticancer treatment development.

# I. Types of Cancer Heterogeneity

Inter- and intra- tumoral heterogeneity operate on multiple levels. Observed molecular heterogeneity of cancer cells can be attributed to differences in genetic, transcriptional, epigenetic, microenvironmental, structural/spatial, and macroenvironmental states, as discussed below (Fig. 1). Understanding the types of heterogeneity markers and mechanisms can aid the development of antineoplastic therapies.



Figure 1. The different levels of tumor heterogeneity. Using a lung cancer example, intratumoral heterogeneity arises from the various clones within one patient, whereas intertumoral represents differences in clones across patients. Genetic heterogeneity demonstrates chromosomes may acquire a single nucleotide variant (SNV) or a copy number variant (CNV). The CNV can result in gene suppression when copy numbers are decreased and gene amplification when copy numbers are increased. Structural heterogeneity refers to the histological and spatial location of the tumor. In lung cancer, tumors can arise in the bronchi or the alveoli. Transcriptional heterogeneity is characterized by differences in gene expression, quantified by mRNA transcript levels. Epigenetic heterogeneity is marked by DNA or histone modifications that may alter gene expression profiles. The tumor microenvironment shows cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAF), tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), mesenchymal stem cells (MSC), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), B cells, T cells, natural killer (NK) cells, and dendritic cells (DC) surrounding a tumor cell population. Blood vessels are depicted by red branches. Metastatic heterogeneity refers to differences in metastases from primary tumor or between sites of metastasis. The tumor macroenvironment shows factors like age and weight that are relevant to physicians selecting treatments for their patients.

#### Genetic Heterogeneity

Genetic heterogeneity refers to the genetic alterations harbored by cancer cell populations. These genetic alterations may be single nucleotide variants (SNVs), such as single base substitutions (missense, nonsense, and mutations in untranslated regions) and frameshift mutations brought about by single nucleotide insertions or deletions. SNVs lead to drug resistance and have clear clinical implications on the course of treatment, thus identifying common mutants may provide new targets for drug treatment. The misregulation of the DNA deaminases APOBEC family of enzymes can give rise to SNVs. APOBEC3B is upregulated along with its target sequence in bladder, cervix, lung adenocarcinoma, lung squamous cell carcinoma, head and neck, and breast cancer (Burns et al., 2013). SNVs also account for inter- and intratumoral heterogeneity across several cancers and their subtypes. One study evaluating heterogeneity in synchronous colorectal cancer (sCRC, colorectal cancer with more than one primary tumor), found that only 3 of 23 patient cases consisted of genetically identical tumors; the remaining 20 cases (87%) showed intertumoral heterogeneity (Jesninghaus et al., 2016). Intratumoral evaluations of multiple primary tumors within the same patient showed that 44% of patients harbored one KRAS wildtype tumor and another KRAS mutant tumor (Jesninghaus et al., 2016). 48% of the cases also had double, triple, or quadruple mutations in KRAS, APC, TP5, PIK3CA, and TGFBR2 (Jesinghaus et al., 2016). This study highlights the mutated genes most implicated in the development of sCRC, in addition to the variation found across patients and within patients. A study of esophageal cancer using whole exome sequencing identified 90% intratumoral heterogeneity with SNVs in microRNA-binding sites MHFR, MYH11, ABCC4, GRPC6A, TP53, HGF, and PIK3R2 genes. Various somatic SNVs are implicated in a range of cancers.

Another type of genetic aberration includes copy number variants (CNVs), which are alterations resulting in increased or decreased numbers of DNA segments >1,000 bases in length (Shao et al., 2019). These anomalies can be just as destabilizing as SNVs. One study finds CNV burden of 50-75% in the tumor genome corresponds to higher mortality risk in comparison to CNV burdens <25% and >75% (Andor et al., 2012). Another study identified CNVs through array-based comparative genomic hybridization in two patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma; the results identified 430 and 262 amplification or deletions in each, resulting in the amplification of PRKCI, SOX2, and CCTN (Cao et al., 2015).

When considering both SNVs and CNVs, the concept of a clone also arises. A clone is defined as a tumor population with similar mutation profiles, while subclones are cell populations that diverge from the shared traits common to the original clone. A pan-cancer study used tumor separation algorithms PyClone and EXPANDS to evaluate intratumoral heterogeneity in 12 cancers (thyroid, prostate, kidney, low-grade glioma, glioblastoma, head and neck, cervical, stomach, lung (adenoma), lung (squamous), melanoma, and bladder). The study revealed that more clonal diversity does not linearly correlate with poor cancer prognosis (Andor et al., 2012). Rather, 1-2 clones and >4 clones result in improved prognostic outcomes, especially when there are more CNVs (Andor et al., 2012). These findings point to an optimal number of clones harbored in tumors. This knowledge can help personalize treatment based on the number of clones. Patients with 3-4 clones may benefit from DNA-destabilizing treatments, like radiation and chemotherapy, to increase the number of clones. Patients with 1-2 clones may benefit from more targeted treatment approaches.

One of the limitations of these findings is introduced from the Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) dataset, which is a large scale genome profiling effort that details primary tumors genetic data, but excludes data on xenografts, cell lines, and has limited data on metastases; all these additional sources of genetic data could help identify a more representative range of SNVs and CNVs (Liu et al., 2018, Solomon et al., 2009). Canopy, another statistical framework used to develop tumor phylogenies, has been tested in four datasets, including the MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell line, breast cancer xenografts, leukemia, and ovarian cancer. This framework has also been a powerful tool in tracing tumor heterogeneity of clones overtime (Jiang et al., 2016). The test samples used in Canopy differ drastically from the TCGA dataset, so it is important to evaluate these SNVs and CNVs using both datasets to ensure unbiased findings.

Driver mutations are another class of mutations, attributed to the acquisition of cancer-like phenotypes in tumor cells. This differs from passenger mutations, which are secondary mutations that do not contribute to tumorigenesis. In a pan-cancer evaluation of sixteen different cancers, researchers found 66% of cancer-driving mutations are due to errors in DNA replication, while only 29% and 5% of mutants arise from environmental factors and inherited mutations, respectively (Ledford, 2017). Other studies place less emphasis on the significance of cancer driver mutations. For example, one study finds that 12% of triple-negative breast cancers contained no genetic anomalies in known drivers (TP53, PIK3CA, and PTEN to name a few) or cytoskeletal genes (Shah et al., 2012). This finding implies that other unknown anomalies may be attributed to driver-free TNBCs. The finding also raises the question of what drives early clonal expansion in these cancers.

Beyond questions raised about the origins of cancer, it is generally agreed that genetic mutations can contribute to the development of cancer. Others point out that it is difficult to filter tumor drivers from passengers, given that the roles of driver and passenger mutations may switch as tumors evolve (Polyak, 2011). Further, some studies caution against overlooking passenger mutations, since their accumulation can collectively have a deleterious effect and result in cancer meltdown (McFardland et al., 2014). In a model of over 2,500 cancer genomes, the aggregate effect of putative passengers provided significant additional power for predicting cancerous phenotypes, and passengers in tumor suppressors may confer weak driver activity (Kumar et al., 2020). Another study evaluating multiple driver mutations in 60,954 cancer samples, found six main clusters. Cancers with driver mutations in PIK3CA and NOTCH were more susceptible to inhibitory drugs in comparison to cancers with either singular driver mutation (Saito et al., 2020).

Nevertheless, the driver and passenger mutation distinction is still significant, as it aided in the identification of key genes contributing to tumorigenesis.

## Transcriptional Heterogeneity

In addition to variations in the genetic code, gene expression is just as critical to defining tumor prognosis. Even within isogenic cell populations, variation in gene expression can determine why certain subsets of the population die when exposed to drug agents while others survive (Paek et al., 2016). Additionally, several mutations found in cancers may not be expressed and will therefore not actively contribute to the disease phenotype. One high throughput RNA-sequencing analysis of TNBCs shows that only 36% of all mutations in the genome were expressed (Shah et al., 2012). Studies like these show that analysis of the transcriptome is also relevant to evaluating tumor heterogeneity.

Transcriptional heterogeneity has been identified in several instances of tumor heterogeneity. Microphthalmia-associated transcription factor (MITF) is associated with increased cell differentiation in melanoma (Shannan et al., 2016). In a metastatic melanoma study, bulk tumors were evaluated with whole exome sequencing and single-cells were analyzed by RNA-seq. The study identified two transcriptional states in pretreated melanoma subpopulations that corresponded to either a high expression of the MITF gene (or other downstream targets which was grouped into a 'MITF-high' designation) or a low expression of MITF and high AXL. On a single cell level, however, there was a differential level of MITF expression, even when the bulk tumor was easily categorized with a single expression profile (Tirosh et al. 2016). These findings highlight how inter- and intra- tumoral heterogeneity can occur on the transcriptional level.

Transcriptional heterogeneity can be mediated by epigenetic modifications. The same melanoma study also reveals heterogeneity in cell cycle gene expression, where non-cycling cells have high levels of KDM5B (Lysine Demethylase 5B) expression relative to cycling cells (Tirosh et al., 2016). These non-dividing cells are not sensitive to cell-cycle targeting drugs and tend to persist in patients even when dividing cancer cell populations are cleared, pointing to the need of combination treatments that can act on this resistant population. In another study, increased KDM5B activity resulted in increased transcriptomic heterogeneity, leading to endocrine therapy resistance in ER<sup>+</sup> breast cancers (Hinohara et al., 2018). In patients demonstrating this transcriptomic heterogeneity, introducing an epigenetic targeting agent may improve efficacy and overall sensitization. Gene expression of housekeeping genes and transcription factors are also differentially expressed across cancers. In a sample of 567 ER<sup>+</sup> breast cancer, simultaneously elevated MYC and RAS activity confer a significantly worse prognosis than either high MYC or high RAS activity alone (Teschendorff et al., 2010). In a molecular analysis of small cell lung carcinoma (SCLC) in genetically engineered mouse models (GEMMs), double knockouts (KOs) of tumor suppressor genes RB1 and TP53 gave rise to differential gene expression patterns, including one transcriptional state of ASCL1-high and NE-high and one transcriptional state of ASCL-low and NE-low, while triple KOs of RB1, TP53, and RBL2 demonstrated variable expression of NFIB in metastases (Pozo et al., 2018). The loss of RB1 may contribute to increased neuroendocrine cell plasticity and differentiation into new populations (Yang et al., 2018). Despite having the same lineage and histology of cells, variable gene expression patterns result in differential outcomes.

### Epigenetic Heterogeneity

The modulation of chromatin structure through the modifications of histones or DNA can result in varied gene expression patterns across patients. While transcriptomic heterogeneity may arise from epigenetic changes, increased gene expression can also be attributed to variation in copy numbers of genes. For example, in a hepatocellular carcinoma model, single-cell triple-omics sequencing method of the genome, methylome, and transcriptome revealed CNVs are proportional to RNA expression, but do not impact the DNA methylation of these regions (Hou et al., 2016). Epigenetic modifications are simply one facet that can contribute to transcriptional heterogeneity.

There are two main classes of epigenetic aberrations implicated in cancers. The first class of epigenetic changes are due to somatic mutation in an epigenetic regulatory protein, resulting in aberrant gene expression of targets. Drug-resistant or drug-tolerant cell states may be transient and reversible if mediated by epigenetic modification, increasing interest in the development of inhibitors against proteins modulating gene expression (Sharma et al., 2010). One target of interest is KDM5B, a gene that codes for a histone H3 lysine 4 (H3K4) demethylase which can increase gene expression. Estrogen receptor-positive (ER<sup>+</sup>) breast cancers can be sensitized to anti-estrogen drugs by knocking out or inhibiting KDM5B, since high KDM5B expression results in higher transcriptomic heterogeneity and more cancer clones (Hinohara et al., 2018). KDM5A has also been implicated in drug resistance in lung cancers (Sharma et al., 2010). These findings illustrate the need for epigenetic targeting agents to decrease tumor progression and supplement other standard-of-care treatments. Another epigenetic regulator implicated in cancer development is DNA methyltransferase 3A (DNMT3A). Somatic mutations in DNMT3A were identified in acute myeloid leukemia M5 subtype in 23 of 112 cases (20.5%) (Yan et al., 2011). The aberrant activity of mutant DNMT3A resulted in variable expression of HOXB (Yan et al., 2011). HOXB genes are

transcription factors that target gene regulating protein sequences, so aberrant HOXB activity can lead to further abnormalities in gene expression.

The second major class of epigenetic alterations are modifications of promoters of gene families (such as DNA repair proteins), which result in the accumulation of genetic mutations that increase cancer risk. Cytosine-phosphate-guanine-rich regions of DNA, termed CpG islands, are often sites of hypermethylation across various cancer types. Cytosine can spontaneously be deaminated, resembling uracil, a RNA base. However, CpG islands contain several 5'methylcytosines, which, when deaminated, produce a thymine base. Correcting a C>T substitution is more difficult than a C>U, especially when DNA mismatch repair (MMR) proteins are insufficiently active. In a study evaluating sCRC, the CpG island of MLH1 was found to be hypermethylated in several cases and increased hypermethylation correlated to increased BRAF V600E mutants (Jesinghaus et al., 2016). CpG islands have also been differentially methylated in cancer subtypes. Hypermethylation within ESR1-containing CpG islands was found in ER<sup>-</sup> breast cancers, but not in ER<sup>+</sup> breast cancers (Bertos and Park, 2011). CpG island hypermethylation results in the inactivation of PTEN (25%) and CDKN2A (50%), two common driver mutations of melanoma (Shannan et al., 2016). CpG island hypermethylation events are clearly implicated across cancer types, and when particular regulatory genes are silenced, somatic mutations can accumulate and increase cancer risk. Thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG), an enzyme involved in base excision repair, is hypermethylated in the promoter region of several multiple myeloma cell lines, resulting in lower gene repair of hydrogen peroxide-induced damage (Peng et al., 2006). Another gene, 8-oxoguanine DNA glycosylase (OGG1), is hypermethylated across breast cancer types and results in less oxidation repair to guanine bases, which can result in the accumulation of deleterious mutations (Fleischer et al., 2014). Additionally, hypomethylation of satellite 2

repetitive element (SAT2), ALU, and long-interspersed nuclear element-1 (LINE-1) correlates with increased cancer incidence (Guo et al., 2019). These types of epigenetic abnormalities are more difficult to target since the cause of hypermethylation or hypomethylation remains unknown. Still, in cases of hypermethylation and reduced transcription of DNA regulatory elements, the findings may be relevant to the development of treatments where those proteins are exogenously introduced to cells.

#### Cellular Tumor Microenvironment Heterogeneity

The tumor microenvironment (TME) plays a critical role in regulating tumorigenesis. Cancer proliferation depends on the interaction of tumors with the noncancerous cellular landscape. These cellular components include cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), tumorassociated macrophages (TAMs), mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), dendritic cells (DCs), natural killer (NK) cells, B cells, and T cells. The TME is capable of changing the tumors and cancers are capable of manipulating the TME (Jin and Jin, 2020).

#### a. Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts

Fibroblasts are a cellular stromal component involved in tissue restructuring. Fibroblasts can be activated in wound-healing events in a similar fashion to CAFs found near tumors, which were characterized as "wounds that do not heal" (Dvorak, 1986). CAFs tend to have pro-tumor effects, but there are no well-defined molecular markers of CAFs that distinguish them from normal fibroblasts (Öhlund et al., 2014). CAFs are defined on a location-basis as the collection of fibroblasts found in a tumor. The variation in the molecular markers expressed of CAFs could be attributed to differences in embryogenic origins of non-cancerous fibroblasts from both the mesenchyme (Haniffa et al., 2009) and the neural crest (Sharpe, 2001), components of the

mesoderm and ectoderm, respectively. Tissue-resident fibroblasts also vary considerably and can account for the variance in molecular heterogeneity. Growth factors such as TGF- $\beta$  have led to increased activation of CAFs via epigenetic modifications (Hu et al., 2005). CAFs were found in higher levels in recurrent melanoma cells which expressed high levels of transcription factor AXL (Tirosh et al., 2016). In breast cancer stem cells, CAFs have been shown to secrete IL-6 and IL-8, which activate the STAT3/NF-κB pathway and generate a positive feedback loop (Korkaya et al., 2011). In colorectal cancers, CAFs mediate cellular cross-talk with tumor populations through the release of miRNA-containing exosomes (Bhome et al., 2017). In addition to interaction with the tumor cell population, CAFs tend to have immunosuppressive effects. In human pancreatic cancer surgical resections, CAFs expressed higher levels of PD-L1 and PD-L2 in comparison to healthy donors (Gorchs et al., 2019). CAFs were demonstrated to increase T cell expression of exhaustion markers such as TIM-3, PD-1, CTLA-4, and LAG-3 (Gorchs et al., 2019). In human non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), CAFs derived from the primary tumor demonstrated strong immunosuppressive effect on activated T cells, even after high dose (18 Gy) radiation therapy, and the irradiated CAFs continued to release such as  $PGE_2$ , IL-6, IL-10, and  $TGF-\beta$  at comparable levels to non-irradiated CAFs (Gorchs et al., 2015). It is still unclear if CAFs are in a transient state or are in a committed lineage of pro-tumor cells. However, if treatments targeting the production of pro-tumor proteins like TGF- $\beta$  are used, the tumors may be further sensitized to other therapies like PD-L1 blockade (Mariathasan et al., 2018).

## **b.** Tumor-Associated Macrophages

Macrophages are a component of the innate immune system that are largely responsible for engulfing and degrading pathogens and cancer cells but degrade cellular debris in homeostatic conditions. They are generally thought to be derived from monocytes, although some tissueresident macrophages, such as those in the brain (microglia) and liver (Kupffer cells), have less clearly defined origins (Varol et al., 2015).

There are two main subpopulations of macrophages. These include classically activated M1 macrophages, which have a proinflammatory role, and alternatively activated M2 macrophages, which are involved in tissue remodeling and angiogenesis. TAMs are defined by the pathology they are associated with, namely cancer. Although TAMs share more similarity to M2 macrophages, they also possess M1 signatures and should be considered a separate grouping (Chávez-Galán et. al, 2015). Macrophages demonstrate tumor-promoting activity that can be diminished through monoclonal antibodies targeting pro-tumor cytokines released by TAMs and abolishing the interaction between TAM receptors and their ligands on tumor cells. One such interaction of interest is between CD47 ligand, a potent "don't eat me signal" expressed on tumor cells, and the SIRP-a receptor found on macrophages. In human non-Hodgkin lymphomaengrafted mouse models, treatment with anti-CD47 antibody in addition to rituximab (anti-CD20 antibody) showed complete tumor clearance and enabled phagocytosis of the tumor by macrophages (Chao et al. 2010a). Another study by the same research group found calreticulin is a marker recognized by macrophage to induce phagocytosis, and tumor cells (acute myeloid and lymphoblastic leukemias, chronic myeloid leukemia, non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL), bladder cancer, glioblastoma, and ovarian cancer) often co-express CD47 and calreticulin to evade immune surveillance (Chao et al., 2010b). Calreticulin is minimally expressed on normal cells, indicating that an anti-CD47 antibody may be a good treatment option to maximize the "eat me" signal of calreticulin found on cancer cells. In addition, TAMs secrete IL-6, which activates the STAT3/NFκB pathway in breast cancers (Korkaya et al., 2011). Another group found CD68<sup>+</sup> macrophages can secrete IL-6, which can increase the activation of the STAT3/ERK and Wnt/β-catenin

pathways, mediate the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) via the upregulation of transcription factor Snail, and promote increased migration and invasion of SW48 colon cancer cells (Gao et al., 2018). They also tested a JAK inhibitor, AG490, which was capable of reversing the STAT3/ERK activation pathway and decreasing the effect of IL-6 secretion from the TAMs (Gao et al., 2018). TAMs have also been implicated to increase the proliferation of gastric cancer through exosomes rich in ApoE, which can activate the PI3K pathway in tumor tissue (Zheng et al., 2018). Targeting pro-tumor TAM activity can help elicit tumor-suppressive responses to cancer.

#### **c.** Mesenchymal Stem Cells

MSCs are a stromal cell component isolated from the bone marrow and capable of differentiating into mesenchymal tissues such as bone, cartilage, and fat. MSCs may also be a source of CAFs (Trivanović et al., 2016). MSCs demonstrate dual immunomodulatory effects. MSCs are involved in structuring tissue via the production of extracellular matrix components, such as collagen, fibronectin, laminin, heparan sulphate, and proteoglycans. These modifications may facilitate tumor metastasis or help to contain tumors (Poggi et al., 2014). MSCs can also suppress immune function through a number of factors, like IDO, heme oxygenase (HO), arginase -1 and -2, nitric oxidase synthase 2 (NOS<sub>2</sub>), HGP, TGF- $\beta$ , IL-10, PGE<sub>2</sub>, and HLAG (Poggi et al., 2014). MSCs can also help promote angiogenesis through the release of different pro-tumor factors. Breast cancer cells are found to stimulate CCL5 secretion of MSCs, which can enhance angiogenesis through paracrine signaling of CCR5 expressed on tumor cells (Karnoub et al., 2007). In ovarian cancer, carcinoma-MSCs enhanced tumorigenesis through increased BMP2, BMP4, and BMP6 expression (McLean et al., 2011). MSCs fueled cancer stem cells in breast cancers

through CXCL7 secretion (Korkaya et al., 2011). The release of these different factors and their receptors could be targeted by antibody therapy to prevent tumor progression.

## d. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells

MDSCs are a heterogeneous cell population that expand in cancers and can suppress T cell responses. They generally have pro-tumor effects, but have demonstrated some anti-tumor activity, as seen through their modulation of NK cells. For example, Gr-1<sup>+</sup>CD11b<sup>+</sup>F4/80<sup>+</sup> MDSCs isolated from RMA-S tumor-bearing mice do not suppress NK cells, but instead activate them to produce high amounts of IFN- $\gamma$  through RAE-1, the activating signal of NKG2D receptor (Nausch et al., 2008). However, in hepatic cancer, CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>+</sup> MDSCs were found to expand during tumor progression, suppressing NK cell cytotoxicity, NKG2D expression, and IFN- $\gamma$  production via TGF- $\beta$ 1 production (Li et al., 2009). Another study of T cells highlights MDSC dual function. A study using in vitro coculture systems showed that splenic MDSCs can suppress CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation but are mediated by different factors like IFN- $\gamma$ , STAT-1, IRF-1, and NO (Schouppe et al., 2013). Further, both monocytic and granulocytic MDSCs stimulate CD8<sup>+</sup> production of IFN- $\gamma$ , demonstrating T cell anti-tumor activity (Schouppe et al., 2013). Thus, MDSCs can have immunosuppressive and immunogenic effects mediated by direct contact with other immune cells.

#### e. Dendritic Cells

DCs are antigen-presenting cells that play a key role in immune-induction through direct activation of lymphocytes. DCs can also be polarized towards a pro-tumor and immunosuppressive state. Tumor-infiltrating DCs have been implicated in clinical outcomes of various cancers. If DCs are polarized towards an immunosuppressive-dominant state, they may promote a more regulatory response in T cells, thereby increasing tumor promotion. Tumor infiltrating DC precursors are also involved in tumor vasculogenesis; tumors recruit these DCs with  $\beta$ -defensins and use VEGF-A to

induce endothelial-like migration to vessels (Conejo-Garcia et al., 2004). DCs are also able to produce IL-12 and Type I IFN, two pro-inflammatory markers that can induce immunogenicity (Chow et al., 2012). Characterizing the signaling factors that promote specific DC states is important in the development of immunogenic DC-based cancer vaccines.

f. Natural Killer Cells

NK cells are lymphoid derivatives that can target cancers through the secretion of cytolytic granules, prompting an immunogenic response. Unlike B and T cells, which are also lymphocytes, NK cells do not display antigen specificity and mainly attack tumors which do not express MHC Class I/ due to loss of  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin ( $\beta$ 2M) (via loss of heterozygosity or point mutations) (Sade-Feldman et al., 2017). NK cells can be useful in targeting melanoma cancers that have downregulated  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin and MHC Class I presentation (Porgador et al., 1997, Sade-Feldman et al., 2017). Damaged DNA can stimulate the induction of NK cells by activating signals such as NKG2D (Chow, 2012). However, tumors can evolve to evade immune surveillance through various mechanisms, such as ligand shedding. One such mechanism finds tumors that release soluble ligands of NKG2D have decreased interactions with NK cells and T cells (Iannello, 2016). Another team found that CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells (Tregs) are able to suppress NK activation through the release of TGF- $\beta$ , which inhibits the release of NKG2D receptors on NK cells (Ghiringhelli et al., 2005). In mouse models with depleted Tregs, there was a notable increase in NK cell proliferation and cytotoxicity (Ghiringhelli et al., 2005). NK cells can also have an immunosuppressive effect on other immune cells. For example, circulating immature NK cells found in the peripheral blood of WEHI-3B leukemic mice promoted immune suppression by decreasing the expression of I-A<sup>d</sup> on DCs via a TGF-β mediated process; decreased DC activity also limited T cell activation (Ebata et al., 2006). Through these different mechanisms, NK cells can be both tumor-promoting and tumor-suppressing.

**g.** B cells

B cells are an adaptive immune lymphocyte involved in T cell activation and immune function maintenance. B cells are thought to play an indirect role in tumor immune surveillance. In mice challenged with B16 melanoma cells following B cell depletion, tumor proliferation and metastasis were enhanced, while CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation was impaired (DiLillo et al. 2010). Thus, B cells confer a level of protection against cancer through induced T cell activity.

Other studies point to the immunosuppressive functions of B cells. B cells are also associated with the increased generation of Tregs. In a 4T1 TNBC mouse model, Bregs (a regulatory B cell population characterized by B2 markers, the activation of STAT3, and other markers) induce TGF- $\beta$  dependent conversion of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells into FOXP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs, and in the absence of Bregs, 4T1 is unable to metastasize to the lungs (Olkhanud et al., 2011). In tongue squamous cell carcinoma patients, CD19<sup>+</sup>IL-10<sup>+</sup> Bregs transformed CD4<sup>+</sup> resting T cells into CD4<sup>+</sup>FOXP3<sup>+</sup> T cells (Zhou et al., 2016). Both of these cases highlight the regulatory role Bregs may have in suppressing immune activity.

h. T cells

T cells have several functions including surveilling the body for non-self-antigens, helping B cells to produce antibodies, and eliminating harmful cells with toxic granules. They are also active in immune memory for future recognition of similar foreign bodies. T cells are self-tolerant, meaning they are unlikely to recognize self-antigens displayed on cancer cells as foreign antigens. However, cancer-specific neoantigens are tumor-specific and foreign antigens. Cancers that display more neoantigens tend to have increased T cell infiltration, which is also modulated by other components of the microenvironment, such as MDSCs (Junttila and de Sauvage, 2013).

T cell populations include CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> cells and regulatory T cells or Tregs. In cancer heterogeneity studies, the distribution of these subtypes of T cells can influence outcomes. A comprehensive single-cell study performed on melanoma and the cellular tumor microenvironment found a diverse population of naïve, CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD8<sup>+</sup>, and Treg cells (Tirosh et al., 2016). Their analysis also revealed 28 genes that were consistently upregulated in high-exhaustion cells, including co-inhibitory receptors, T Cell Immunoreceptor With Ig And ITIM Domains (TIGIT), and co-stimulatory receptors 4-1BB and CD27 (Tirosh et al., 2016). Another patient with progressing metastatic ovarian cancer was found to have immune cell exclusion, while regressive and stable metastases had increased CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells infiltration and exhibited oligoclonal expansion of specific T cell subsets (Jimenez-Sanchez et al., 2017). Jimenez-Sanchez and colleagues also detected CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell reactivity against predicted neoepitopes, after isolating cells from a blood sample taken three years after the tumors were resected. In a study evaluating ERbasal and HER2<sup>+</sup> breast cancer using Boolean interaction Cox-regression models, the combination of high Th1 activation and low TGF- $\beta$  activation defined a subtype with a good prognosis (Teschendorff et al., 2010). Given how much prognosis and tumor activity vary with distribution of T cell populations, the reduction of Tregs is a therapeutic approach that may improve patient outcomes. In mouse models, depleted Treg populations could restore NK function and promote T cell infiltration of tumors in vivo (Ghiringhelli et al., 2005). This suggests adoptive cell transfer (ACT) techniques that isolate T cells, amplify cytotoxic T cells, and reinfuse them back into patients could yield great benefits.

#### i. Non-Cellular Components of the Tumor Microenvironment

Beyond heterogeneity in the cellular components of the TME, some non-cellular traits that vary across tumors include the angiogenic, invasive, and metastatic potentials of cancers. These non-cellular alterations may be facilitated by the release of chemokines and growth factors from the cellular component of the TME (Watnick, 2012). For example, CAFs may reorganize the tumor and extracellular matrix by recruiting blood vessels to deliver nutrients to tumors. While increased blood flow can promote tumor growth, the increased vascularization may also be used to efficiently deliver therapeutic agents.

#### Spatial and Structural Heterogeneity

Cancers are often divided into subtypes based on their overall morphology and structure of origin. In breast cancer, the main structural categories include invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC) and invasive lobular carcinoma (ILC), which together account for 90% of breast cancer types (Li et al., 2005). Other types of breast cancers include mucinous, comedo, inflammatory, tubular, medullary, and papillary, and all these subtypes have variable age of diagnosis and different prognoses (Bertos and Park, 2011). These differences in prognosis may be due to the cells of origin, which have varied gene expressions. Another component of structural heterogeneity is the TME, which provides the architecture for particular tumors and their functions. A study evaluating the relationship between morphological subtypes of invasive micropapillary breast carcinoma (hollow-like, morula-like, solid, trabecular structures, and discrete groups of tumor cells) and cytogenetic heterogeneity found no link between chromosomal aberrations and morphological structures (Denisov et al., 2015). If chromosomal alterations have no influence on subtypes, since this

study isolated pure tumor cells without admixture of non-tumor stromal cells (Denisov et al., 2015).

Some cancers have the same histology, but different structures of origin based on the cell population giving rise to the cancer. In lung cancer mouse model studies, selective gene KO models were made using adenovirus vector-mediated Cre recombinase systems. In SCLC, GEMM mice with triple KOs of TP53, RB1, and RBL2 established primary tumors in the proximal airways when the Ad-CGRP-Cre targeting construct was used, but established tumors in the distal airways when Ad-CMV-Cre targeting construct was used instead (Pozo et al., 2018). Another study found similar results in SCLC triple KO models: the Ad-CGRP-Cre construct resulted in proximal airway establishment in both the small and large bronchioles, while the Ad-CMV-Cre construct resulted in proximal and distal lesions forming in the terminal bronchioles and the bronchial-alveolar duct junction (Yang et al., 2018). Both of these cancers, irrespective of formation in the proximal or distal airways, are classified as SCLCs, and show structural heterogeneity is influenced by cell type of origin.

Spatial heterogeneity is a related concept and refers to how components of the tumor are distributed. Clonal populations often follow specific spatial patterns of distribution (Jiang et al., 2016, Yates et al., 2015). In metastatic melanomas, non-cycling cells were found to be clustered together and spatially distant from the clusters of cycling (dividing) cells (Tirosh et al., 2016). If cancers are grouped by clonal populations, tumor biopsies from one region may not reflect the diverse clonal makeup of the tumor, which is a limitation of current biopsy techniques.

#### Metastatic Heterogeneity

Metastatic heterogeneity addresses the difference in metastatic load on effector organs for cancers of the same histological origin. Observed metastases established at distal organs often harbor distinct mutations and new phenotypes in comparison to the primary tumor site. Circulating tumor cells (CTCs) are often implicated in evaluating the metastatic potential of solid tumors as these cells are dislodged from their primary site and can establish a new mass elsewhere. CTCs that undergo the EMT, a process marked by increased expression of N-cadherin and vimentin, coupled with increased transcription factors like Zeb, Twist, and Snail, may be more likely to establish metastases (Jie et al., 2017). One of the earlier studies investigating CTCs evaluated the survival rates of (<sup>125</sup>I)-5-iodo-2 deoxy-uridine-labeled B16 tumor cells and found under 0.1% of the initially injected cells survived when initial lung metastases were first established (Fidler, 1970). These findings raised the question of whether metastatic cells pre-existed in the initial population or if metastatic traits were acquired over time. In a follow-up study, parental B16 cells were divided into two parts with one half representing the parental population and the other half being used to establish 17 clones. The parental B16 cells and the 17 clones were injected intravenously in syngeneic C57BL/6 mice and the metastatic load was evaluated across groups. After 18 days, mice were sacrificed and evaluated for lung metastases, revealing a median number of 40 metastases formed from the parental cell line, but a range of 3 to >500 found across the metastatic clones (Fidler, 1978). Given the wide range of lung metastases, highly metastatic clones likely pre-existed in the parental population. These findings support the clonal evolution hypothesis, which will be discussed later.

Heterogeneity of metastatic tumor cell populations has been demonstrated in several key studies. In a pan-cancer whole-genome analysis of metastatic solid tumors, 2,520 pairs of normal tissue and metastases revealed the most commonly mutated genes to include TP53 (52% of samples), CDKN2A (21%), PIK3CA (16%), APC (15%), KRAS (15%), PTEN (13%) and TERT (12%), which collectively account for 26% of all the candidate driver mutations (Preistley et al.,

2019). The analysis also demonstrated that the mutational landscape and driver genes identified in metastatic tumors closely resemble the primary tumors; however, in 62% of patients, particular gene variants were identified to stratify patients towards additional drug therapies (Preistley et al., 2019). Understanding how metastatic cancers evolve over time is crucial to better prevent metastasis in early stages.

#### Macroenvironmental Heterogeneity

The tumor macroenvironment includes patient-specific factors such as age, body weight, and menopausal status (relevant for breast cancer in females) (Bertos and Park, 2011). While these factors are not tumor-specific, they may play a role with tumor-intrinsic factors. It should also be noted these factors are not necessarily independent from other forms of heterogeneity. Cancer is often considered to be a "disease of age" which can be attributed to the time required for cells to acquire the necessary driver mutations (Risques and Kennedy, 2018). Immune T cell exhaustion can also be acquired with age (Lee, K. et al., 2016) and accounts for the escape of cancers from immune surveillance (Wang et al., 2018). Increased body weight is correlated with increased estrogen levels in post-menopausal females, suggesting BMI may play a consequential role in breast cancer incidence rates (Bernstein and Ross, 1993). These factors are critical in defining personalized clinical care protocols.

### **II.** Causes of Tumor Heterogeneity

Understanding the levels at which heterogeneity occurs can help determine what types of treatment strategies one should employ. It is equally important to understand how cancer heterogeneity may arise and be maintained. Currently, obtaining repeated biopsies from the same patient is not ethical, so most studies can only postulate how diverse populations of cancer cells are maintained by constructing phylogenetic trees based on single biopsies (Davis et al., 2017). Two prominent proposals for the emergence and maintenance of tumor heterogeneity are clonal evolution hypothesis and the cancer stem cell hypothesis (Fig. 2). Both of these explain potential ways in which new populations of cells arise and form a heterogeneous tumor pool. Other evolution models address how successive new clones can be acquired and appear in a population. These include linear, branching, neutral, and punctuated evolution.



**Figure 2. Clonal Evolution and Cancer Stem Cell Hypotheses.** Under a branching evolution model of clonal evolution and cancer stem cell (CSC) hypotheses, a similar tumor population may be established. In clonal evolution, one stem cell can evolve into distinct lineages and the best adapted clones will contribute to be selected for the tumor population. Alternatively, in the CSC hypothesis, stem cells can self-renew and differentiate into distinct clones. The final tumor population contains the same admixture of clones plus the stem cells and progenitor cells.

#### Clonal Evolution Hypothesis

The clonal evolution model for tumor progression was first proposed by Peter Nowell in 1976. Due to underlying genetic instability and constant selection pressures from drug therapies and other limiting factors, such as poor nutrient availability to tumors, cancer cells are capable of giving rise to new mutants and clonal populations (Nowell, 1976). The clonal evolution model proposes there is one stem cell that initiates clonal expansion and, in turn, subsequent "hits" can be acquired overtime. The final heterogenous clones are the most aggressive, and the remaining clones die out (Hsiao et al., 2010). Early work supports this hypothesis, demonstrating that clonal diversity pre-existed in tumor populations (Fidler, 1978). Clonal evolution is often thought to follow a branching pattern that yields phenotypic differences in tumors. When evaluating histological samples of ER<sup>+</sup> tumors, there are connected clusters of ER<sup>-</sup> cells that may have emerged under a clonal evolution model (Hsiao et al., 2010). The clonal evolution model suggests some subsets of a tumor have the potential for malignant growth from the start. It additionally suggests that clones can arise overtime from existing clones, presenting more challenges for proper treatment and management to overcome.

#### Cancer Stem Cell Hypothesis

In contrast with the clonal evolution hypothesis, the cancer stem cell (CSC) hypothesis suggests that only a certain subset of the tumor cell population is capable of contributing to cancer growth and progression. This subset, known as cancer stem cells, is capable of self-renewal and can maintain the tumor population (Michor and Polyak, 2010). There is also an inherent hierarchical organization of cells within a tumor, and the ability to expand and establish new clones is a property reserved for few multipotent cells. Although only CSCs can differentiate into more tumor cells, the CSC hypothesis believes all cells within the tumor can progress to a more

aggressive state (Hsiao et al., 2010). In lobular breast cancer, different lobules have distinct morphologies, suggesting that a separate stem cell forms each population (Hsiao et al., 2010). Beyond histological analyses, most CSC hypothesis validation has been performed in mice. One such study modeled human breast cancers in immunocompromised mice and found only 100 cells were tumorigenic (tumor-initiating) out of tens of thousands of cells that were non-tumorigenic or unable to establish tumors (Al-Hajj et al., 2003). The tumorigenic cells had a phenotype of CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> (Al-Hajj et al., 2003). Another mouse study performed with human colon cancer established that CD133<sup>+</sup> cells, which account for  $\sim 2.5\%$  of the total tumor cell population, displayed tumorigenic properties, while CD133<sup>-</sup> cells were incapable of proliferating in immunodeficient mice (Ricci-Vitiani et al., 2007). Additionally, the characterization of marker expression profiles in distinguishing tumorigenic cells from non-tumorigenic cells implies that there is an epigenetic basis for separating CSCs from differentiated cancer cells (Shackleton et al., 2009). However, a limitation of these cancer stem cell validation studies is their reliance on immunodeficient mice. These mice lack the tumor microenvironment and immune surveillance present in humans. Even so, the CSC hypothesis has several important implications on drug screening and validation processes. Currently, one positive indicator of a promising drug therapy is the ability for it to reduce bulk tumor volume; however, if the CSC hypothesis is true and CSCs persist, these treatments may not prevent tumors from relapse. CSCs that are resistant to chemotherapy regimens are therefore potential targets for future and ongoing drug development approaches (Talukdar et al., 2016).

#### Other Hypothesized Models of Tumor Evolution

Other models of tumor evolution contribute to both the clonal evolution and cancer stem cell hypotheses. According to the linear evolution model, new mutations that give rise to clones confer a selection advantage so strong that the new clonal population outcompetes the former clonal population and grows to fixation (Davis et al., 2017). In this model, only one clone can dominate, so the tumor population remains relatively homogenous but changes overtime with the acquisition of new mutations/traits. The linear evolution model was formulated around the idea of step-wise genetic mutations found in colorectal cancer (Fearon and Vogelstein, 1990). These early studies did not evaluate whole genomes, so there is a possibility their analyses missed other persistent clones.

Recent improvements in sequencing technologies reveal clonal patterns of inheritance that support the branching evolution model. This model suggests new clones emerge in parallel with other new clones, resulting in the presence of multiple clones at once. One explanation for why clones coexist comes from minimal differences in fitness (McGranahan and Swanton, 2015). Studies using next generation sequencing (Davis et al., 2017, Hardiman et al., 2016, Russnes et al., 2011), whole exome sequencing (Jiang et al., 2016, Mylonas et al., 2020, Tirosh et al., 2016,), and multi-region sequencing (Cao et al., 2015, Gerlinger et al., 2012, Yates et al., 2015) in conjunction with single-cell analysis present evidence in support of the branching evolution hypothesis. Branching evolution is one of the best supported models.

While branching evolution accounts for most situations, some cancers display alternate inheritance patterns. The neutral evolution model suggests no mutation or change confers any selective advantage, so all clones are represented proportionally. This contradicts the idea of driver mutations and the growth advantage attributed to them. Because some cancers do not have known drivers, this model might be at play (Shah et al., 2012). Another meta-analysis of different cancers found neutral evolution to be present in 323 out of 904 samples from 14 cancer types, which had early stage intratumoral heterogeneity (William et al., 2016). The study also developed a model

that inversely related intratumoral heterogeneity with allelic frequency, pointing to no selection advantage in clones (William et al., 2016).

In contrast to the past three models, the punctuated model of evolution proposes that heterogeneity in a population can arise all at once instead of sequentially over time. Supporting this, one study in prostate cancers found the majority of DNA translocation and deletion events were interdependent, suggesting they arose together (Baca et al., 2013). If the accumulation of mutations occurs in a coordinated moment, these findings support the punctuated evolution model. Another study found their phylogenetic analysis of a small subset of breast cancers with a majority of CNVs and chromosomal aberrations arose together in a short, punctuated burst (Gao et al., 2014). This model of punctuated evolution seems to explain linked genetic anomalies that relate to CNVs and may be useful in defining those clones across cancers. All four of these models about clonal evolution explain ways in which new clones may arise and be maintained in a population. Genomic Instability

Another factor that can bring about changes in the genome and lead to new clones is genomic instability. Genomic instability is brought about by SNVs and CNVs in the genome, which can collectively result in greater cancer risk. These genetic alterations arise randomly, but the likelihood can increase through mutagens. DNA damage mutations can result from exposure to exogenous carcinogens like tobacco smoke, ionizing radiation, or UV radiation. Endogenous carcinogens such as free radicals can lead to replication fork collapse during meiosis and cause DNA mutations during replication (Roberts and Gordenin, 2014). Microsatellite instability (MSI) can arise from a decreased activity of MMR components. In a study evaluating primary and metastatic tumors from patients with sCRC, MSI was identified in 17% of these patients

(Jesinghaus et al., 2016). In squamous esophageal cancers, methylation of MLH1, a CpG island, was associated with MSI in most cases (Guo et al., 2006).

Beyond SNVs and CNVs, additional genetic alterations include those brought on by chromosomal abnormalities like translocation events or errors in segregation during cell division, resulting in an uploidy. Chromosomal instability was determined to be a contributing factor in breast cancer, lung cancer, medulloblastoma, glioma, mesothelioma, and lymphoma (Carter et al., 2006). While translocations can result in CNVs contributing to gene amplification or suppression, not all translocation events account for a CNV. A notable example is the Philadelphia Chromosome that forms from the translocation resulting in ABL1 from chromosome 9 and BCR from chromosome 22 and forming a fused BCR-ABL gene on chromosome 22 (Salesse and Verfaillie, 2002). This mutant enzyme has unique catalytic functions on tyrosine kinase signaling and is found in chronic myeloid leukemia and acute lymphoblastic leukemia cases (Zheng et al., 2013). Other commonly implicated translocation events in lymphomas involve the insertion of genes into the heavy chain immunoglobulin gene locus on chromosome 14; some genes involved are the oncogene, MYC, found on chromosome 8 (Boxer and Dang, 2001), or the anti-apoptotic protein, BCL-2, found on chromosome 18 (Bakhshi et al., 2004). Chromosomal abnormalities are not often grouped with genetic heterogeneity, but they can be just as destabilizing to the genome and give rise to cancers. Understanding genomic instability can help explain the mechanisms that lead to heterogeneous tumor populations.

#### **III. Methods for Evaluating Heterogeneity**

New screening tools and bioinformatic approaches have revealed the heterogeneity across tumors. The newly identified targets can be used in diagnostic assays or as a new target for therapeutics. These approaches are important to assess heterogeneity with greater precision.

#### Tumor Heterogeneity Algorithms

Biomarker analyses are essential to characterizing tumors, identifying diagnostic and prognostic markers, and informing patient-specific therapeutic approaches. The mutant-allele tumor heterogeneity (MATH) scores can be used to quantify heterogeneity and act as a prognostic marker in various cancers. In one study of rectal cancer, MATH scores ranging from 7 to 41 were assigned to tumors, with higher scores effectively corresponding to poorer outcomes (Hardiman et al., 2016). MATH scores are also considered to be an effective prognostic marker in head and neck cancers, even with one tumor sample (Beck, 2015). The minimum event distance for intra-tumor copy-number comparisons, or MEDICC, is another algorithm developed for analyzing multiple samples in ovarian cancer. This algorithm has also been demonstrated to have clinical utility in measuring intratumoral heterogeneity from CNVs (Beck, 2015). The MATH and MEDICC algorithms were trained on different datasets, developed for specific cancers, and take different sequencing data inputs. Efforts to help standardize these and reduce bias can help increase their clinical relevance and use to further facilitate diagnosis and treatment.

#### Invasive Sampling Approaches

Thus far, tumor sampling has primarily consisted of biopsies obtained from tumor sites. The standard for tumor diagnosis is a single tumor biopsy, which is also used to determine the standard course of treatment for the cancer screened. However, new studies demonstrate the limitations single biopsies face, due to their poor representation of clones in a tumor mass. Further, single biopsies provide limited information on how tumors evolve spatiotemporally in response to treatment. One team analyzed renal cell tumor samples from primary and metastatic tumor locations of four cancer patients, finding that 63-69% of mutations in single biopsies were not detectable across every tumor region in the same patient (Gerlinger et al., 2012). Another study of pancreatic cancer sampled 4-5 sites (lymph nodes) in patients, screened them for SNVs and CNVs, and found 90% intra-tumoral heterogeneity overall, suggesting the large majority of genetic anomalies harbored by the samples were private, with only 10% sample overlap (Cao et al., 2015). Additionally, evolution of cancers through space and time can result in dominance of different clones during the disease course and treatment (Swanton, 2012). Metastases may also vary in clonal makeup in comparison to the primary tumor. If clonal populations found across tumors are not representatively sampled, unidentified clones may persist. Sampling bias is a barrier to prognostics biomarker efforts.

It should be noted, not all studies point to such overt sampling bias from single biopsies. In an analysis of 2-3 spatially separated tumors per patient with rectal cancer, 67-97% of exonic somatic mutations were shared across all regions of an individual's tumor (Hardiman et al., 2016). Regardless, even if we evaluate the findings from Hardiman et al. conservatively, tumors that shared 67% of exonic mutations result in 1 in 3 unidentified clones. The underestimation of tumor heterogeneity may be ameliorated by increased sampling efforts.

Multiple biopsies may help increase clonal capture, but the invasive nature of tissue biopsies has potential disadvantages that must be weighed against the benefits of obtaining more tissue samples. There is limited evidence to support the cell seeding hypothesis, which suggests biopsies could dislodge tumor cells; however, there are preclinical studies that establish connections between wound healing and cancer. In murine mammary carcinoma models, increased biopsy of mammary tumors increases the proportion of lung metastases, possibly through a IL-6 dependent inflammatory pathway, but blocking IL-6 activity can decrease the metastatic load (Hobson et al., 2013). In a clinical study of breast cancer patients, core needle biopsies included eosinophil recruitment and increased proliferation of tumor cells adjacent to the biopsy wound, suggesting biopsy-induced inflammation could impact tumor proliferation or metastasis (Szalayova et al., 2016). Components of the TME could be responsible for mediating the inflammatory response following biopsies at tumor sites, which could in turn lead to increased angiogenesis (Sundaram et al., 2018). More cohort studies could help to validate whether there are risks associated with biopsies in a specific cancer context.

#### Non-Invasive and Minimally Invasive Approaches

Noninvasive methods of tumor sampling are becoming increasingly relevant for diagnosis and for evaluating the effect of treatments overtime. Liquid biopsies may eventually replace tissue biopsies of solid tumor cancers. Methods for evaluating tumor burden and revealing the genetic makeup of a patient's cancer can be aided by noninvasive approaches. Circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA) may be used to assess tumor dynamics. While ctDNA quantities are lower in comparison to circulating cell-free DNA shed from noncancerous cells, increasingly sensitive detection approaches have mitigated this effect (Diehl et al., 2008). In a study monitoring 18 patients with colorectal cancers, plasma samples were obtained following surgery and analyzed through BEAMing, a highly-sensitive ctDNA detection tool (Diehl et al., 2008). The study found patients with complete resection had detectable ctDNA 2-10 days post-surgery, and patients with no recurrence were found to have undetectable levels of ctDNA from days 13-56 following surgery (Diehl et al., 2008). BEAMing was also able to identify mutations in APC, KRAS, TP53, and PIK3CA from ctDNA (Diehl et al., 2008). Finally, the study found ctDNA was a better predictor of disease presence than carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA), and imaging tools were used to supplement the identification of small lesions (Diehl et al., 2008). Another study quantified ctDNA in NSCLC cases with cancer personalized profiling through deep sequencing (CAPP-seq) and found ctDNA corresponded to tumor burden, which was quantified through imaging (Newman et al., 2014). This study identified a median number of 4 somatic alterations that accounted for 96% of lung adenocarcinoma or squamous cell carcinoma (Newman et al., 2014). The study also detected ctDNA in 100% of patients with stage II-IV NSCLC and in 50% of patients with stage I, with 96% specificity for mutant allele fractions as low as  $\sim 0.18\%$  (Newman et al., 2014). In an analysis of 30 women with metastatic breast cancer, 97% of patients had detectable ctDNA, 53% had ctDNA indicate treatment response (where increase ctDNA levels preceded the establishment of progressive disease), 78% expressed the prognostic markers, cancer antigen 15-3 (CA 15-3), and 87% had detectable CTCs (Dawson et al., 2013). Radiographic imaging was also used to assess the strength of ctDNA as a biomarker (Dawson et al., 2013). These studies all point to the use of ctDNA as a reliable and informative source of somatic aberrations. These findings indicate liquid biopsy approaches may be particularly helpful at diagnosing, and monitoring disease course overtime.

Imaging approaches can be useful for diagnosing and monitoring cancers at multiple timepoints, as imaging is a non-invasive method for confirming tumor burden and can supplement other tools which assess molecular markers of heterogeneity. Key examples of imaging modalities include X-ray, ultrasound, computed tomography (CT), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and positron emission tomography (PET). Within the MRI modality, a developing approach is the use of proton spectroscopic MRI (sMRI). In comparison to conventional contrast-enhanced MRI (ceMRI), metabolite data of biomarkers like choline (Cho) and *N*-acetylaspartate (NAA) in

glioblastomas was obtained to develop a more precise 3D tumor image (Cordova et al., 2016). Whereas ceMRI alone could not detect the contralateral tumors formed, the sensitivity of sMRIs allowed for more fine-tuned detection of metastatic brain lesions. Other solid tumor treatment strategies involve surgical resection of solid tumors. Obtaining a clean tumor mass with minimal residual tumor cells requires precise imaging techniques. If similar biomarkers can be found in other solid tumors, enhanced 3D imaging of tumor structures by sMRI could better predict prognostic outcomes in addition to providing information on the location of tumors.

#### **IV. Therapeutic Approaches to Overcome Heterogeneity**

Heterogeneous tumors contain several clones that drug therapy may target. These antineoplastics can place additional selection pressures on tumors and lead to decreased sensitivity and/or acquired resistance over time. Resistance mechanisms vary widely, making it difficult to develop target therapies. Understanding how to maintain sensitivity in tumors with high clonal diversity is imperative to improving cancer management and care.

#### Synthetic Lethality

One method of drug treatment is inducing synthetic lethality. This strategy uses drug inhibitors to target an already susceptible pathway (intrinsic susceptibility preexists due to genetic aberrations), in hopes that the redundancy will sensitize clones and lead to death. A well established example of synthetic lethality is the use of Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors in patients with BRCA mutants. BRCA 1 and 2 are responsible for homologous recombination-mediated repair mechanisms. PARP proteins are involved in base-excision repair, another DNA damage repair pathway. In patients with BRCA deficiencies, treatment with PARP inhibitors can push the mutation load over some threshold and induce apoptosis of tumor cells

(Cerrato et al., 2016). Similarly, APOBEC-active cancers have a high mutation burden, and if patients are treated with DNA destabilizing agents, the tumors may accumulate enough DNA damage to induce cell death (Swanton et al., 2015). Another preclinical study suggests that inhibition of checkpoint kinase 1 (CHK1), a DNA -replication stress protein, could be a useful strategy in cancers with APOBEC3 induced mutagenesis (Kanu et al., 2016). More human trials evaluating the effect of DNA damaging agents can help target highly heterogeneous cancers.

#### Limitations of Target Therapies

Although the largely genotype-based approach has yielded initial success in targeted therapy and treatment, cancer cell populations tend to almost always acquire resistance over time. For example, in ER<sup>+</sup> metastatic breast cancer, when fulvestrant and tamoxifen are used together, resistant cells were found to harbor mutants in the binding domain of ESR1 (Jeselsohn et al., 2015). In the case of EGFR-dependent cancers, the third-generation tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) were developed to target EGFR T790M mutants, a common variant that arose in non-responders to first- and second- generation TKIs (Jänne et al., 2015). However, when third-generation TKIs were used upfront in EGFR T790M mutant tumors, patients who progressed developed a secondary EGFR C797S mutation (Niederst et al., 2015, Ramalingam et al., 2018). Further, admixture of clonal populations can be less responsive to targeted therapies aimed at a single clone, due to the presence of an intrinsically resistant clone (Song et al., 2014). Acquired resistance to drugs may also be at play for refractory tumors. Thus, while targeted therapies prolong progression free survival and overall survival, ultimately still result in recurrence. New approaches must factor in tumor heterogeneity to better control tumorigenesis. Finding more durable, long-term, or even curative solutions is crucial to overcome resistance to targeted drug therapies. Treatments designed

to target the immune microenvironment instead of the heterogeneous tumor population may help abrogate tumor resistance to targeted therapies.

## Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

One revolutionary advancement in cancer immunotherapy was the introduction of immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs). These include antibodies designed to block programmed cell death -1/-ligand 1 (PD-1/PD-L1) and cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4). PD-1 and CTLA-4 are exhaustion markers expressed on immune cells. When these IC receptors are activated by their complementary ligand, T cells are deactivated, resulting in cytotoxic T cell suppression and cancer evasion. Cancer cells express PD-L1, which is often a target of immunotherapy because it can suppress immune activity and promote immune evasion. T cell targeted modulatory drugs are approved for ~50 cancers (Robert, 2020), and immunomodulatory drugs account for 66% of oncology trials (Xin Yu et al., 2019). Further, one preclinical study found APOBEC3B expression increases resistance of melanoma cells to chemotherapy but increases sensitivity to ICIs. The susceptibility to ICIs can be attributed to increased neoantigen expression on the melanoma cells that T cells can target (Driscoll et al., 2020). For patients with metastatic melanoma treated with pembrolizumab, an anti-PD-1 monoclonal Ab (mAb), durable complete response was noted in ~15% of the cohort after discontinuing treatment for nearly ten years (Robert et al., 2018). ICIs therefore have a curative effect on various cancer types; however, despite these accomplishments, ICIs are only effective in a fraction of patients. This suggests that ICI non-responders may have poor or no pre-existing T cell immunity for the ICI to act on (Pardoll, 2012). While ICIs may disable the "brakes" that suppress immune activity, T cells must be stimulated with some other "fuel." This "fuel" could be provided through vaccination.

#### Whole Cell and Membrane-Based Vaccines

Vaccines prime the immune system by introducing antigens to naïve T cells, triggering the activation and rapid differentiation of effector T cells (Chen and Mellman, 2013). These antigens can be presented to T cells via MHC Class I or II complexes, resulting in priming and activation of effector T cells. These effector T cells must then infiltrate tumors, selectively bind to cancer cells with T cell receptors (TCRs) and kill the target cancer cell (Chen and Mellman, 2013). This model of immune-activated cancer clearance is called the "cancer-immunity cycle," for which several steps must occur to generate a successful vaccine response.

It should also be noted that vaccine approaches to cancer treatment were common before ICI therapy in the clinic. Prior to ICIs, solid tumor immunotherapy relied on peptide immunizations, viral vaccines, and allogeneic whole cells that secreted specific immunocytokines (Rosenberg et al., 2004, Srivatsan et al., 2013). One barrier to the development of immunogenic cancer vaccines is self-tolerance. Since cancer cells originate from healthy cells, they share the antigen repertoire found on regular cells, and vaccines aimed at self-antigen are not as immunogenic as vaccines aimed at foreign infectious agents, like bacteria and viruses (Selvaraj et al., 2008). Additionally, these vaccines often have limited success in humans for a number of reasons. Firstly, whole cell vaccines developed with radiation often express phosphatidylserine, a immunosuppressive marker typically found on the inner leaflet of a cell membrane, leading to immunosuppressive activity (Srivatsan et al., 2013). These effects can be mitigated through the incorporation of immunostimulatory molecules. Further, even if vaccines were able to generate cytotoxic T cells, they may not be able to infiltrate solid tumors. This lack of infiltration may limit successful outcomes in vaccine trials for liquid tumors, such as lymphoid cancer (Rosenberg et al., 2004). Lastly, allogeneic vaccines offer a platform for developing mass produced agents that can

treat multiple people. However, even if broadly available, patient-to-patient heterogeneity and intratumoral heterogeneity would present challenges to allogeneic vaccine approaches.

Autologous vaccines, derived from self-tumor, can improve outcomes. A personalized vaccine approach develops vaccines that reflect the heterogeneity of an individual's tumor. Since these vaccines are personalized, developing these vaccines may require more time than a patient has, but may significantly improve clinical outcomes. One such personalized cancer vaccine model is the tumor-membrane vesicle (TMV) vaccine. TMVs are plasma membrane vesicles derived from tumor tissue that is homogenized to make vesicles ranging from 300-600 nm (Patel et al., 2015). TMVs carry many tumor-associated antigens. TMV vaccines are prepared by incorporating immunostimulatory molecules (ISMs), such as B7-1 and IL-12, by protein transfer (Patel et al., 2015). The TMV vaccine model has been evaluated in syngeneic mouse models of breast cancer and has been shown to induce strong anti-HER2 responses (Patel et al., 2015). TMV vaccines have also conferred protection in mouse models of TNBC in combination with anti-CTLA-4 mAb (Pack et al., 2020) and head and neck cancer with anti-PD-1 mAb (Bommireddy et al., 2020). TMV vaccines are also useful because the tumor cell membrane components are still present, eliminating the need for live cell vaccines (Cimino et al., 2004). This vesicle-based model provides more control over the response elicited by the vaccine.

#### Dendritic Cell Vaccines

When considering the cancer-immunity cycle, DC vaccines are known to bypass the protein-loading step in vivo, by pulsing DCs with tumor antigens ex vivo. DCs are also the most potent antigen-presenting cell, and tumor antigens loaded onto DCs can be effective for priming T cells. One prominent antigen-presenting cell-based vaccine is Prostate GVAX, which consists of irradiated allogeneic prostate tumors with GM-CSF secretion to treat hormone-refractory prostate

cancer (HRPC). The GVAX trial results showed the vaccinated group had a 26-month overall survival improvement over the control group, which was treated solely with taxane chemotherapy (Small et al., 2007). Given that whole tumor cell vaccines can secrete pro-tumor cytokines like IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ , DC vaccination approaches with cell lysates are of interest (Chiang et al., 2015). For example, a preclinical study with mice obtained cell lysates from mammary carcinoma and compared them to DC vaccines that were developed using whole fibrosarcomas; the study found both methods induced CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> activation, but the cell lysate vaccine protected the mice from lung metastases more than the whole cell vaccine (Fields et al., 1998). Furthermore, protein and RNA-based DC loading are favorable because neither antigen source has HLA restriction. With DC loading, the RNA can also be converted to cDNA ex vivo and loaded onto DCs. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells recognize the antigenic peptides presented on DCs and induce an immune response (Mitchelle and Nair, 2000), suggesting DNA/RNA-loaded DCs may be more effective. An autologous monocyte-derived DC study electroporated mRNA of glioblastoma cancer stem cells. This study demonstrated 2.9-fold increase in progression-free survival in comparison to the control group (Vik-Mo et al., 2013). In addition to its use in studies, an RNA loaded vaccine approach is also beneficial as it expands the number of antigens that may be targeted. These antigens could be associated with tumor stromal components rather than the tumor cells themselves (Chiang et al., 2015). DC based vaccines development approaches are therefore more widely applicable to cancers due to the number of targets they can display without the need for HLA-matching.

#### Adoptive Cell Transfer

While loading DCs ex-vivo can enhance antigen uptake and increase the chance of T cell activation, ACT aims to expand select T cell clones ex vivo. In ACT, cytotoxic T cells are modified to express engineered immune receptors with antibodies and T cell co-receptors called chimeric

antigen receptors (CARs). These modified T cells are then reinfused into patients as a treatment. CAR T cell therapy has been used to treat acute B lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) by targeting CD19 antigen expressed on ALL tumor cells (Lee et al., 2015). However, similar target proteins or genetic anomalies have yet to be discovered and utilized for other cancer types.

TCRs are naturally occurring "CAR-like" receptors that bind to MHC molecules presenting peptides derived from antigens. One research group looked into developing T cell receptors (TCRs) against tumor-associated antigens in melanoma. In the study, melanoma tumors with HLA-A2 receptors bound to either CD20 or myeloperoxidase were co-cultured with HLA-A2-negative donor T cells. Healthy donor T cells from HLA-A2-negative patients were used, since HLA-A2 would be considered a foreign peptide, prompting TCR generation against HLA-A2. Cytotoxic T cells were generated against 37 out of 50 peptides predicted to bind HLA-A2, with 36 new epitopes previously undescribed (Kumari et al., 2014). The study demonstrates more self-antigens can be targeted for new ACT approaches. While this study was performed in a liquid tumor cancer, expanded T cell clones against epitopes like HER-2 or prostate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA) may be targeted for ACT treatment (Kailayangiri et al., 2020).

In addition to tumor-associated antigens, neoantigens are also promising treatment options, as these markers are unique to cancer cells and limit the off-target impact on normal cells. However, neoantigens are expressed in low levels across cells in a tumor population, which pose a challenge to their use in treatments (Nejo et al., 2019). Another study looked into neoantigen-driven T cell immunotherapy (Stronen et al., 2016). The study developed a predictive model for finding the most immunogenic neoantigens. After obtaining whole exome and RNAseq data and identifying SNVs, the study employed an MHC I binding algorithm to narrow down the most promising neoantigens. These neoantigens were then used in binding assays along with allogeneic HLA-matched donor T cells and found neoantigens with the most immune-promoting potential displayed the strongest binding interactions between the neoantigen peptide and MHC I (Stronen et al., 2016). Since neoantigens are unique to each patient, developing T cell populations against commonly acquired cancer mutations, like EGFR variant III (EGFRvIII, inframe deletion of exons 2–7), would benefit the larger population (Goff et al., 2019). Another common mutation includes the KRAS G12X mutants (where X represents amino acids C, V, D, A, and S) found in lung adenocarcinomas, which may elicit T cell reactivity (Calvayrac et al., 2017). The findings from Stronen et al. indicate peptide-MHC complex stability could be an additional immunogenicity criterion (Yadav and Delmarre, 2016). This knowledge could shorten the development time of personalized vaccine therapies.

#### Oncolytic Viruses

Viruses are efficient and highly specific infectious agents. Their machinery can be harnessed to infect cancer cells. Oncolytic viruses are engineered to selectively target cancerous cells and lyse them. The lysing of cancer cells serves two purposes: firstly, to destroy the cancer cells, and secondly, to induce anti-tumor immunity (Melcher et al., 2011). Oncolytic viruses can also facilitate the delivery of additional immune bolstering components, like cytokines and antibodies (Goradel et al., 2019). The first FDA approved agent was talimogene laherparepvec (T-VEC), which is a herpes-based melanoma-targeting virus that lacks ribonucleotide reductase and expresses GM-CSF (Conry et al., 2018).

A major limitation to oncolytic viral therapy is resistance. In a two-year immuno-oncology summary report, oncolytic viral therapies had the smallest growth in new treatments, with only 35 new approved oncolytic agents (Xin Yu et al., 2019). In B16 melanomas, the introduction of oncolytic vesicular stomatitis virus led to the upregulation of APOBEC3 in an IFN-β-dependent

manner (Huff et al., 2018). To overcome these resistance mechanisms, researchers can use combination treatment with other immunotherapeutics. One study looked at combining a viral agent with ICO15K-FBiTE, a fibroblast-targeting bispecific T cell engager, to enhance viral spread and T cell mediated cytotoxicity against CAFs (de Sostoa et al., 2019). Choosing the right viral vector for the specified target is also critical to success. For example, naked viruses are more successful than enveloped viruses (Zheng et al., 2019). Overall, oncolytic viruses offer a precise tumor-targeting system, but there are limitations to their potential. As such, combination therapy with an oncolytic virus may be more efficacious. While oncolytic viruses directly target cancer cells, they can indirectly target the immune system and promote an anti-tumor response. The anti-tumor immune response can be useful in clearing cancer cells which were not directly targeted by the therapy, which may occur due to tumor heterogeneity.

#### Conclusion

A strong understanding of tumor heterogeneity informs the drug development pipeline. With so many treatment options and different classes of drugs, it is important to develop more robust informatics frameworks to better grasp the nuances of heterogeneity. These could be used to identify combinations of clonal characteristics that correspond to more favorable prognostic outcomes. Similarly, these networks could be used to determine which combinations of drugs yield better outcomes. For example, cases with high genetic aberrations from DNA MMR have improved outcomes when more DNA damage is induced (Lee, V. et al., 2016). Understanding where this threshold for damage falls is a concept that needs to be defined more concretely.

Studies evaluating cancer heterogeneity must also take the effects of the microenvironment into account. There are limited available studies on the relationship between tumor heterogeneity and tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs). TILs may be a useful prognostic marker for treatment outcomes and these cells may be used in adoptive cell transfer for treatment.

When considering how clonal diversity can evolve, identifying specific patterns of mutation inheritance could help inform treatment approaches. For example, under the punctuated evolution model where several interrelated changes occur simultaneously, the formation of mutation clusters may better predict which types of genetic variants are harbored in the bulk tumor, especially when single biopsies often fail to capture clonal diversity.

Improving clinical guidelines for the evaluation of efficacious cancer immunotherapy is a needed change, since current guidelines are not well adapted to the rapid surge of these treatments. For example, many phase I trials of immune-oncology agents include expansion cohorts to treat more people with the agent even if it is not formally approved for the treatment of those disease-cohorts (Siu et al., 2017). While it is great more patients are treated with promising agents prior to trial completion, the lack of rigorous scientific validation and close monitoring of patients in these cohorts may cause more harm to those patients (Siu et al., 2017). Additionally, trials have various markers of success such as progression-free survival, overall survival, overall response rate, and these differences make it difficult to generalize conclusions from trial to trial. Given how critical immunotherapies are to cancer treatment management, developing clear parameters to objectively define treatment outcomes would decisively advance the ever-growing cancer treatment body of knowledge.

#### Works Cited

- Al-Hajj, M., Wicha, M.S., Benito-Hernandez, A., Morrison, S.J., and Clarke, M.F. (2003). Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *100*, 3983-3988.
- Andor, N., Graham, T.A., Jansen, M., Xia, L.C., Aktipis, C.A., Petritsch, C., Ji, H.P., and Maley, C.C. (2016). Pan-cancer analysis of the extent and consequences of intratumor heterogeneity. Nat Med 22, 105-113.
- Baca, S.C., Prandi, D., Lawrence, M.S., Mosquera, J.M., Romanel, A., Drier, Y., Park, K., Kitabayashi, N., MacDonald, T.Y., Ghandi, M., *et al.* (2013). Punctuated evolution of prostate cancer genomes. Cell 153, 666-677.
- Bakhshi, A., Jensen, J.P., Goldman, P., Wright, J.J., McBride, O.W., Epstein, A.L., and Korsmeyer, S.J. (1985). Cloning the chromosomal breakpoint of t(14;18) human lymphomas: clustering around Jh on chromosome 14 and near a transcriptional unit on 18. Cell *41*, 899-906.
- Beck, A.H. (2015). Open access to large scale datasets is needed to translate knowledge of cancer heterogeneity into better patient outcomes. PLoS Med *12*, e1001794.
- Bernstein, L., and Ross, R.K. (1993). Endogenous Hormones and Breast Cancer Risk. Epidemiologic Reviews 15, 48-65.
- Bertos, N.R., and Park, M. (2011). Breast cancer one term, many entities? J Clin Invest 121, 3789-3796.
- Bhome, R., Goh, R., Pickard, K., Mellone, M., Sayan, A.E., and Mirnezami, A. (2017). Profiling the MicroRNA Payload of Exosomes Derived from Ex Vivo Primary Colorectal Fibroblasts.
   Methods Mol Biol 1509, 115-122.
- Bommireddy, R., Munoz, L.E., Kumari, A., Huang, L., Fan, Y., Monterroza, L., Pack, C.D., Ramachandiran, S., Reddy, S.J.C., Kim, J., *et al.* (2020). Tumor Membrane Vesicle Vaccine

Augments the Efficacy of Anti-PD1 Antibody in Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor-Resistant Squamous Cell Carcinoma Models of Head and Neck Cancer. Vaccines (Basel) *8*.

- Boxer, L.M., and Dang, C.V. (2001). Translocations involving c-myc and c-myc function. Oncogene 20, 5595-5610.
- Brennick, C.A., George, M.M., Corwin, W.L., Srivastava, P.K., and Ebrahimi-Nik, H. (2017).
  Neoepitopes as cancer immunotherapy targets: key challenges and opportunities. Immunotherapy *9*, 361-371.
- Burns, M.B., Temiz, N.A., and Harris, R.S. (2013). Evidence for APOBEC3B mutagenesis in multiple human cancers. Nat Genet 45, 977-983.
- Calvayrac, O., Pradines, A., Pons, E., Mazières, J., and Guibert, N. (2017). Molecular biomarkers for lung adenocarcinoma. European Respiratory Journal *49*, 1601734.
- Cao, W., Wu, W., Yan, M., Tian, F., Ma, C., Zhang, Q., Li, X., Han, P., Liu, Z., Gu, J., *et al.* (2015).
   Multiple region whole-exome sequencing reveals dramatically evolving intratumor genomic heterogeneity in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Oncogenesis *4*, e175.
- Carter, S.L., Eklund, A.C., Kohane, I.S., Harris, L.N., and Szallasi, Z. (2006). A signature of chromosomal instability inferred from gene expression profiles predicts clinical outcome in multiple human cancers. Nature Genetics 38, 1043-1048.
- Cerrato, A., Morra, F., and Celetti, A. (2016). Use of poly ADP-ribose polymerase [PARP] inhibitors in cancer cells bearing DDR defects: the rationale for their inclusion in the clinic. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 35, 179.
- Chao, M.P., Alizadeh, A.A., Tang, C., Myklebust, J.H., Varghese, B., Gill, S., Jan, M., Cha, A.C., Chan,
  C.K., Tan, B.T., *et al.* (2010a). Anti-CD47 antibody synergizes with rituximab to promote phagocytosis and eradicate non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Cell *142*, 699-713.

- Chao, M.P., Jaiswal, S., Weissman-Tsukamoto, R., Alizadeh, A.A., Gentles, A.J., Volkmer, J.,
  Weiskopf, K., Willingham, S.B., Raveh, T., Park, C.Y., *et al.* (2010b). Calreticulin Is the
  Dominant Pro-Phagocytic Signal on Multiple Human Cancers and Is Counterbalanced by CD47.
  Science Translational Medicine 2, 63ra94-63ra94.
- Chávez-Galán, L., Olleros, M.L., Vesin, D., and Garcia, I. (2015). Much More than M1 and M2 Macrophages, There are also CD169+ and TCR+ Macrophages. Frontiers in Immunology 6.
- Chen, D.S., and Mellman, I. (2013). Oncology Meets Immunology: The Cancer-Immunity Cycle. Immunity *39*, 1-10.
- Chiang, C.L., Coukos, G., and Kandalaft, L.E. (2015). Whole Tumor Antigen Vaccines: Where Are We? Vaccines (Basel) *3*, 344-372.
- Chow, M.T., Moller, A., and Smyth, M.J. (2012). Inflammation and immune surveillance in cancer. Semin Cancer Biol 22, 23-32.
- Cimino, A.M., Palaniswami, P., Kim, A.C., and Selvaraj, P. (2004). Cancer Vaccine Development: Protein Transfer of Membrane-Anchored Cytokines and Immunostimulatory Molecules. Immunologic Research 29, 231-240.
- Conejo-Garcia, J.R., Benencia, F., Courreges, M.C., Kang, E., Mohamed-Hadley, A., Buckanovich, R.J., Holtz, D.O., Jenkins, A., Na, H., Zhang, L., *et al.* (2004). Tumor-infiltrating dendritic cell precursors recruited by a beta-defensin contribute to vasculogenesis under the influence of Vegf-A. Nat Med *10*, 950-958.
- Conry, R.M., Westbrook, B., McKee, S., and Norwood, T.G. (2018). Talimogene laherparepvec: First in class oncolytic virotherapy. Hum Vaccin Immunother *14*, 839-846.

- Cordova, J.S., Shu, H.K., Liang, Z., Gurbani, S.S., Cooper, L.A., Holder, C.A., Olson, J.J., Kairdolf, B., Schreibmann, E., Neill, S.G., *et al.* (2016). Whole-brain spectroscopic MRI biomarkers identify infiltrating margins in glioblastoma patients. Neuro Oncol *18*, 1180-1189.
- Corthay, A. (2014). Does the immune system naturally protect against cancer? Front Immunol 5, 197.
- Davis, A., Gao, R., and Navin, N. (2017). Tumor evolution: Linear, branching, neutral or punctuated? Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer 1867, 151-161.
- Dawson, S.-J., Tsui, D.W.Y., Murtaza, M., Biggs, H., Rueda, O.M., Chin, S.-F., Dunning, M.J., Gale,
  D., Forshew, T., Mahler-Araujo, B., *et al.* (2013). Analysis of Circulating Tumor DNA to
  Monitor Metastatic Breast Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine *368*, 1199-1209.
- de Sostoa, J., Fajardo, C.A., Moreno, R., Ramos, M.D., Farrera-Sal, M., and Alemany, R. (2019). Targeting the tumor stroma with an oncolytic adenovirus secreting a fibroblast activation protein-targeted bispecific T-cell engager. J Immunother Cancer 7, 19.
- Denisov, E.V., Skryabin, N.A., Vasilyev, S.A., Gerashchenko, T.S., Lebedev, I.N., Zavyalova, M.V., Cherdyntseva, N.V., and Perelmuter, V.M. (2015). Relationship between morphological and cytogenetic heterogeneity in invasive micropapillary carcinoma of the breast: a report of one case. J Clin Pathol 68, 758-762.
- Diehl, F., Schmidt, K., Choti, M.A., Romans, K., Goodman, S., Li, M., Thornton, K., Agrawal, N., Sokoll, L., Szabo, S.A., *et al.* (2008). Circulating mutant DNA to assess tumor dynamics. Nat Med 14, 985-990.
- DiLillo, D.J., Yanaba, K., and Tedder, T.F. (2010). B cells are required for optimal CD4+ and CD8+ T cell tumor immunity: therapeutic B cell depletion enhances B16 melanoma growth in mice. J Immunol *184*, 4006-4016.

- Driscoll, C.B., Schuelke, M.R., Kottke, T., Thompson, J.M., Wongthida, P., Tonne, J.M., Huff, A.L., Miller, A., Shim, K.G., Molan, A., *et al.* (2020). APOBEC3B-mediated corruption of the tumor cell immunopeptidome induces heteroclitic neoepitopes for cancer immunotherapy. Nat Commun 11, 790.
- Dvorak, H.F. (1986). Tumors: wounds that do not heal. Similarities between tumor stroma generation and wound healing. N Engl J Med *315*, 1650-1659.
- Eason, K., and Sadanandam, A. (2016). Molecular or Metabolic Reprograming: What Triggers Tumor Subtypes? Cancer Res *76*, 5195-5200.
- Ebata, K., Shimizu, Y., Nakayama, Y., Minemura, M., Murakami, J., Kato, T., Yasumura, S., Takahara, T., Sugiyama, T., and Saito, S. (2006). Immature NK cells suppress dendritic cell functions during the development of leukemia in a mouse model. J Immunol *176*, 4113-4124.
  Fearon, E.R., and Vogelstein, B. (1990). A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell *61*, 759-767.
- Fidler, I.J. (1970). Metastasis: Quantitative Analysis of Distribution and Fate of Tumor Emboli Labeled With 125 I-5-iodo-2'-deoxyuridine. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute.
- Fidler, I.J. (1978). Tumor heterogeneity and the biology of cancer invasion and metastasis. Cancer Res 38, 2651-2660.
- Fields, R.C., Shimizu, K., and Mulé, J.J. (1998). Murine dendritic cells pulsed with whole tumor lysates mediate potent antitumor immune responses in vitroandin vivo. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 95, 9482-9487.
- Fleischer, T., Edvardsen, H., Solvang, H.K., Daviaud, C., Naume, B., Borresen-Dale, A.L., Kristensen,V.N., and Tost, J. (2014). Integrated analysis of high-resolution DNA methylation profiles, gene

expression, germline genotypes and clinical end points in breast cancer patients. Int J Cancer 134, 2615-2625.

- Gao, R., Davis, A., McDonald, T.O., Sei, E., Shi, X., Wang, Y., Tsai, P.C., Casasent, A., Waters, J., Zhang, H., *et al.* (2016). Punctuated copy number evolution and clonal stasis in triple-negative breast cancer. Nat Genet 48, 1119-1130.
- Gao, S., Hu, J., Wu, X., and Liang, Z. (2018). PMA treated THP-1-derived-IL-6 promotes EMT of SW48 through STAT3/ERK-dependent activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway.
   Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy *108*, 618-624.
- Gerlinger, M., Rowan, A.J., Horswell, S., Math, M., Larkin, J., Endesfelder, D., Gronroos, E., Martinez,
  P., Matthews, N., Stewart, A., *et al.* (2012). Intratumor heterogeneity and branched evolution
  revealed by multiregion sequencing. N Engl J Med *366*, 883-892.
- Ghiringhelli, F., Menard, C., Terme, M., Flament, C., Taieb, J., Chaput, N., Puig, P.E., Novault, S., Escudier, B., Vivier, E., *et al.* (2005). CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells inhibit natural killer cell functions in a transforming growth factor-beta-dependent manner. J Exp Med 202, 1075-1085.
- Goff, S.L., Morgan, R.A., Yang, J.C., Sherry, R.M., Robbins, P.F., Restifo, N.P., Feldman, S.A., Lu, Y.-C., Lu, L., Zheng, Z., et al. (2019). Pilot Trial of Adoptive Transfer of Chimeric Antigen
  Receptor–transduced T Cells Targeting EGFRvIII in Patients With Glioblastoma. Journal of
  Immunotherapy 42, 126-135.
- Goradel, N.H., Mohajel, N., Malekshahi, Z.V., Jahangiri, S., Najafi, M., Farhood, B., Mortezaee, K., Negahdari, B., and Arashkia, A. (2019). Oncolytic adenovirus: A tool for cancer therapy in combination with other therapeutic approaches. J Cell Physiol 234, 8636-8646.

- Gorchs, L., Fernández Moro, C., Bankhead, P., Kern, K.P., Sadeak, I., Meng, Q., Rangelova, E., and Kaipe, H. (2019). Human Pancreatic Carcinoma-Associated Fibroblasts Promote Expression of Co-inhibitory Markers on CD4+ and CD8+ T-Cells. Frontiers in Immunology 10.
- Gorchs, L., Hellevik, T., Bruun, J.-A., Camilio, K.-A., Al-Saad, S., Stuge, T.-B., and Martinez-Zubiaurre, I. (2015). Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts from Lung Tumors Maintain Their Immunosuppressive Abilities after High-Dose Irradiation. 5.
- Guo, M., Peng, Y., Gao, A., Du, C., and Herman, J.G. (2019). Epigenetic heterogeneity in cancer. Biomark Res 7, 23.
- Guo, M., Ren, J., House, M.G., Qi, Y., Brock, M.V., and Herman, J.G. (2006). Accumulation of promoter methylation suggests epigenetic progression in squamous cell carcinoma of the esophagus. Clin Cancer Res 12, 4515-4522.
- Hanahan, D., and Weinberg, R.A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144, 646-674.
- Haniffa, M.A., Collin, M.P., Buckley, C.D., and Dazzi, F. (2009). Mesenchymal stem cells: the fibroblasts' new clothes? Haematologica *94*, 258-263.
- Hardiman, K.M., Ulintz, P.J., Kuick, R.D., Hovelson, D.H., Gates, C.M., Bhasi, A., Rodrigues Grant, A., Liu, J., Cani, A.K., Greenson, J.K., *et al.* (2016). Intra-tumor genetic heterogeneity in rectal cancer. Lab Invest 96, 4-15.
- Hinohara, K., Wu, H.J., Vigneau, S., McDonald, T.O., Igarashi, K.J., Yamamoto, K.N., Madsen, T.,
  Fassl, A., Egri, S.B., Papanastasiou, M., *et al.* (2018). KDM5 Histone Demethylase Activity
  Links Cellular Transcriptomic Heterogeneity to Therapeutic Resistance. Cancer Cell *34*, 939-953
  e939.

- Hobson, J., Gummadidala, P., Silverstrim, B., Grier, D., Bunn, J., James, T., and Rincon, M. (2013).
  Acute inflammation induced by the biopsy of mouse mammary tumors promotes the development of metastasis. Breast Cancer Res Treat *139*, 391-401.
- Hou, Y., Guo, H., Cao, C., Li, X., Hu, B., Zhu, P., Wu, X., Wen, L., Tang, F., Huang, Y., *et al.* (2016).
   Single-cell triple omics sequencing reveals genetic, epigenetic, and transcriptomic heterogeneity in hepatocellular carcinomas. Cell Res *26*, 304-319.
- Hsiao, Y.H., Chou, M.C., Fowler, C., Mason, J.T., and Man, Y.G. (2010). Breast cancer heterogeneity: mechanisms, proofs, and implications. J Cancer *1*, 6-13.
- Hu, M., Yao, J., Cai, L., Bachman, K.E., van den Brûle, F., Velculescu, V., and Polyak, K. (2005).Distinct epigenetic changes in the stromal cells of breast cancers. Nat Genet *37*, 899-905.
- Huff, A.L., Wongthida, P., Kottke, T., Thompson, J.M., Driscoll, C.B., Schuelke, M., Shim, K.G.,
  Harris, R.S., Molan, A., Pulido, J.S., *et al.* (2018). APOBEC3 Mediates Resistance to Oncolytic
  Viral Therapy. Mol Ther Oncolytics *11*, 1-13.
- Iannello, A., Thompson, T.W., Ardolino, M., Marcus, A., and Raulet, D.H. (2016). Immunosurveillance and immunotherapy of tumors by innate immune cells. Curr Opin Immunol *38*, 52-58.
- Jänne, P.A., Yang, J.C.-H., Kim, D.-W., Planchard, D., Ohe, Y., Ramalingam, S.S., Ahn, M.-J., Kim, S.-W., Su, W.-C., Horn, L., *et al.* (2015). AZD9291 in EGFR Inhibitor–Resistant Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine *372*, 1689-1699.
- Jeselsohn, R., Buchwalter, G., De Angelis, C., Brown, M., and Schiff, R. (2015). ESR1 mutations-a mechanism for acquired endocrine resistance in breast cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol *12*, 573-583.
- Jesinghaus, M., Pfarr, N., Kloor, M., Endris, V., Tavernar, L., Muckenhuber, A., von Knebel Doeberitz, M., Penzel, R., Weichert, W., and Stenzinger, A. (2016). Genetic heterogeneity in synchronous

colorectal cancers impacts genotyping approaches and therapeutic strategies. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 55, 268-277.

- Jiang, Y., Qiu, Y., Minn, A.J., and Zhang, N.R. (2016). Assessing intratumor heterogeneity and tracking longitudinal and spatial clonal evolutionary history by next-generation sequencing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113, E5528-5537.
- Jie, X.-X., Zhang, X.-Y., and Xu, C.-J. (2017). Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, circulating tumor cells and cancer metastasis: Mechanisms and clinical applications. Oncotarget 8.
- Jimenez-Sanchez, A., Memon, D., Pourpe, S., Veeraraghavan, H., Li, Y., Vargas, H.A., Gill, M.B., Park, K.J., Zivanovic, O., Konner, J., *et al.* (2017). Heterogeneous Tumor-Immune Microenvironments among Differentially Growing Metastases in an Ovarian Cancer Patient. Cell *170*, 927-938 e920.
- Jin, M.Z., and Jin, W.L. (2020). The updated landscape of tumor microenvironment and drug repurposing. Signal Transduct Target Ther 5, 166.
- Junttila, M.R., and de Sauvage, F.J. (2013). Influence of tumour micro-environment heterogeneity on therapeutic response. Nature *501*, 346-354.
- Kailayangiri, S., Altvater, B., Wiebel, M., Jamitzky, S., and Rossig, C. (2020). Overcoming
  Heterogeneity of Antigen Expression for Effective CAR T Cell Targeting of Cancers. Cancers
  (Basel) 12.
- Kanu, N., Cerone, M.A., Goh, G., Zalmas, L.P., Bartkova, J., Dietzen, M., McGranahan, N., Rogers, R., Law, E.K., Gromova, I., *et al.* (2016). DNA replication stress mediates APOBEC3 family mutagenesis in breast cancer. Genome Biol 17, 185.
- Karnoub, A.E., Dash, A.B., Vo, A.P., Sullivan, A., Brooks, M.W., Bell, G.W., Richardson, A.L., Polyak, K., Tubo, R., and Weinberg, R.A. (2007). Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. Nature 449, 557-563.

- Korkaya, H., Liu, S., and Wicha, M.S. (2011). Breast cancer stem cells, cytokine networks, and the tumor microenvironment. J Clin Invest *121*, 3804-3809.
- Kumar, S., Warrell, J., Li, S., McGillivray, P.D., Meyerson, W., Salichos, L., Harmanci, A., Martinez-Fundichely, A., Chan, C.W.Y., Nielsen, M.M., *et al.* (2020). Passenger Mutations in More Than 2,500 Cancer Genomes: Overall Molecular Functional Impact and Consequences. Cell *180*, 915-927 e916.
- Ledford, H. (2017). DNA typos to blame for most cancer mutations. Nature.
- Lee, D.W., Kochenderfer, J.N., Stetler-Stevenson, M., Cui, Y.K., Delbrook, C., Feldman, S.A., Fry, T.J., Orentas, R., Sabatino, M., Shah, N.N., *et al.* (2015). T cells expressing CD19 chimeric antigen receptors for acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in children and young adults: a phase 1 doseescalation trial. The Lancet 385, 517-528.
- Lee, K.A., Shin, K.S., Kim, G.Y., Song, Y.C., Bae, E.A., Kim, I.K., Koh, C.H., and Kang, C.Y. (2016). Characterization of age-associated exhausted CD 8 + T cells defined by increased expression of Tim-3 and PD -1. Aging Cell *15*, 291-300.
- Lee, V., Murphy, A., Le, D.T., and Diaz, L.A. (2016). Mismatch Repair Deficiency and Response to Immune Checkpoint Blockade. The Oncologist *21*, 1200-1211.
- Li, C.I., Uribe, D.J., and Daling, J.R. (2005). Clinical characteristics of different histologic types of breast cancer. British Journal of Cancer *93*, 1046-1052.
- Li, H., Han, Y., Guo, Q., Zhang, M., and Cao, X. (2009). Cancer-expanded myeloid-derived suppressor cells induce anergy of NK cells through membrane-bound TGF-beta 1. J Immunol *182*, 240-249.
- Liu, J., Lichtenberg, T., Hoadley, K.A., Poisson, L.M., Lazar, A.J., Cherniack, A.D., Kovatich, A.J.,
   Benz, C.C., Levine, D.A., Lee, A.V., *et al.* (2018). An Integrated TCGA Pan-Cancer Clinical
   Data Resource to Drive High-Quality Survival Outcome Analytics. Cell *173*, 400-416 e411.

- Mariathasan, S., Turley, S.J., Nickles, D., Castiglioni, A., Yuen, K., Wang, Y., Kadel Iii, E.E., Koeppen,
  H., Astarita, J.L., Cubas, R., *et al.* (2018). TGFβ attenuates tumour response to PD-L1 blockade
  by contributing to exclusion of T cells. Nature *554*, 544-548.
- Marusyk, A., Almendro, V., and Polyak, K. (2012). Intra-tumour heterogeneity: a looking glass for cancer? Nat Rev Cancer *12*, 323-334.
- McFarland, C.D., Mirny, L.A., and Korolev, K.S. (2014). Tug-of-war between driver and passenger mutations in cancer and other adaptive processes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *111*, 15138-15143.
- McGranahan, N., and Swanton, C. (2015). Biological and Therapeutic Impact of Intratumor Heterogeneity in Cancer Evolution. Cancer Cell 27, 15-26.
- McLean, K., Gong, Y., Choi, Y., Deng, N., Yang, K., Bai, S., Cabrera, L., Keller, E., McCauley, L., Cho, K.R., *et al.* (2011). Human ovarian carcinoma–associated mesenchymal stem cells regulate cancer stem cells and tumorigenesis via altered BMP production. The Journal of Clinical Investigation *121*, 3206-3219.
- Melcher, A., Parato, K., Rooney, C.M., and Bell, J.C. (2011). Thunder and lightning: immunotherapy and oncolytic viruses collide. Mol Ther *19*, 1008-1016.
- Michor, F., and Polyak, K. (2010). The origins and implications of intratumor heterogeneity. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) *3*, 1361-1364.
- Mylonas, E., Yoshida, K., Frick, M., Hoyer, K., Christen, F., Kaeda, J., Obenaus, M., Noerenberg, D., Hennch, C., Chan, W., et al. (2020). Single-cell analysis based dissection of clonality in myelofibrosis. Nature Communications 11.
- Narang, P., Chen, M., Sharma, A.A., Anderson, K.S., and Wilson, M.A. (2019). The neoepitope landscape of breast cancer: implications for immunotherapy. BMC Cancer *19*, 200.

- Nausch, N., Galani, I.E., Schlecker, E., and Cerwenka, A. (2008). Mononuclear myeloid-derived "suppressor" cells express RAE-1 and activate natural killer cells. Blood *112*, 4080-4089.
- Nejo, T., Matsushita, H., Karasaki, T., Nomura, M., Saito, K., Tanaka, S., Takayanagi, S., Hana, T.,
   Takahashi, S., Kitagawa, Y., *et al.* (2019). Reduced Neoantigen Expression Revealed by
   Longitudinal Multiomics as a Possible Immune Evasion Mechanism in Glioma. Cancer Immunol
   Res 7, 1148-1161.
- Newman, A.M., Bratman, S.V., To, J., Wynne, J.F., Eclov, N.C., Modlin, L.A., Liu, C.L., Neal, J.W., Wakelee, H.A., Merritt, R.E., *et al.* (2014). An ultrasensitive method for quantitating circulating tumor DNA with broad patient coverage. Nat Med 20, 548-554.
- Niederst, M.J., Hu, H., Mulvey, H.E., Lockerman, E.L., Garcia, A.R., Piotrowska, Z., Sequist, L.V., and Engelman, J.A. (2015). The Allelic Context of the C797S Mutation Acquired upon Treatment with Third-Generation EGFR Inhibitors Impacts Sensitivity to Subsequent Treatment Strategies. Clinical Cancer Research 21, 3924-3933.

Nowell, P.C. (1976). The clonal evolution of tumor cell populations. Science 194, 23-28.

- Öhlund, D., Elyada, E., and Tuveson, D. (2014). Fibroblast heterogeneity in the cancer wound. Journal of Experimental Medicine *211*, 1503-1523.
- Olkhanud, P.B., Damdinsuren, B., Bodogai, M., Gress, R.E., Sen, R., Wejksza, K., Malchinkhuu, E., Wersto, R.P., and Biragyn, A. (2011). Tumor-evoked regulatory B cells promote breast cancer metastasis by converting resting CD4(+) T cells to T-regulatory cells. Cancer Res *71*, 3505-3515.
- Pack, C.D., Bommireddy, R., Munoz, L.E., Patel, J.M., Bozeman, E.N., Dey, P., Radhakrishnan, V., Vartabedian, V.F., Venkat, K., Ramachandiran, S., *et al.* (2020). Tumor membrane-based vaccine immunotherapy in combination with anti-CTLA-4 antibody confers protection against

immune checkpoint resistant murine triple-negative breast cancer. Hum Vaccin Immunother, 1-10.

- Paek, A.L., Liu, J.C., Loewer, A., Forrester, W.C., and Lahav, G. (2016). Cell-to-Cell Variation in p53 Dynamics Leads to Fractional Killing. Cell *165*, 631-642.
- Patel, J.M., Vartabedian, V.F., Bozeman, E.N., Caoyonan, B.E., Srivatsan, S., Pack, C.D., Dey, P., D'Souza, M.J., Yang, L., and Selvaraj, P. (2016). Plasma membrane vesicles decorated with glycolipid-anchored antigens and adjuvants via protein transfer as an antigen delivery platform for inhibition of tumor growth. Biomaterials 74, 231-244.
- Peng, B., Hurt, E.M., Hodge, D.R., Thomas, S.B., and Farrar, W.L. (2006). DNA Hypermethylation and Partial Gene Silencing of Human Thymine-DNA Glycosylase in Multiple Myeloma Cell Lines. *1*, 138-145.
- Peters, S., Camidge, D.R., Shaw, A.T., Gadgeel, S., Ahn, J.S., Kim, D.-W., Ou, S.-H.I., Pérol, M.,
  Dziadziuszko, R., Rosell, R., *et al.* (2017). Alectinib versus Crizotinib in Untreated ALKPositive Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine *377*, 829-838.
- Poggi, A., Musso, A., Dapino, I., and Zocchi, M.R. (2014). Mechanisms of tumor escape from immune system: role of mesenchymal stromal cells. Immunol Lett *159*, 55-72.
- Polyak, K. (2011). Heterogeneity in breast cancer. J Clin Invest 121, 3786-3788.
- Porgador, A., Mandelboim, O., Restifo, N.P., and Strominger, J.L. (1997). Natural killer cell lines kill autologous β<sub>2</sub>-microglobulin-deficient melanoma cells: Implications for cancer immunotherapy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *94*, 13140-13145.
- Pozo, K., Kelenis, D.P., Minna, J.D., and Johnson, J.E. (2018). Different Originating Cells Underlie Intertumoral Heterogeneity in Lung Neuroendocrine Tumors. Cancer Discov *8*, 1216-1218.

- Priestley, P., Baber, J., Lolkema, M.P., Steeghs, N., de Bruijn, E., Shale, C., Duyvesteyn, K., Haidari, S., van Hoeck, A., Onstenk, W., *et al.* (2019). Pan-cancer whole-genome analyses of metastatic solid tumours. Nature 575, 210-216.
- Ramalingam, S.S., Cheng, Y., Zhou, C., Ohe, Y., Imamura, F., Cho, B.C., Lin, M.C., Majem, M., Shah,
  R., Rukazenkov, Y., *et al.* (2018). Mechanisms of acquired resistance to first-line osimertinib:
  Preliminary data from the phase III FLAURA study. Annals of Oncology *29*.
- Ricci-Vitiani, L., Lombardi, D.G., Pilozzi, E., Biffoni, M., Todaro, M., Peschle, C., and De Maria, R. (2007). Identification and expansion of human colon-cancer-initiating cells. Nature 445, 111-115.
- Risques, R.A., and Kennedy, S.R. (2018). Aging and the rise of somatic cancer-associated mutations in normal tissues. PLOS Genetics *14*, e1007108.
- Robert, C. (2020). A decade of immune-checkpoint inhibitors in cancer therapy. Nat Commun 11, 3801.
- Robert, C., Ribas, A., Hamid, O., Daud, A., Wolchok, J.D., Joshua, A.M., Hwu, W.J., Weber, J.S.,
  Gangadhar, T.C., Joseph, R.W., *et al.* (2018). Durable Complete Response After Discontinuation of Pembrolizumab in Patients With Metastatic Melanoma. J Clin Oncol *36*, 1668-1674.
- Roberts, S.A., and Gordenin, D.A. (2014). Hypermutation in human cancer genomes: footprints and mechanisms. Nature Reviews Cancer 14, 786-800.
- Russnes, H.G., Navin, N., Hicks, J., and Borresen-Dale, A.L. (2011). Insight into the heterogeneity of breast cancer through next-generation sequencing. J Clin Invest *121*, 3810-3818.
- Sade-Feldman, M., Jiao, Y.J., Chen, J.H., Rooney, M.S., Barzily-Rokni, M., Eliane, J.-P., Bjorgaard, S.L., Hammond, M.R., Vitzthum, H., Blackmon, S.M., *et al.* (2017). Resistance to checkpoint blockade therapy through inactivation of antigen presentation. Nature Communications 8, 1136.

- Saito, Y., Koya, J., Araki, M., Kogure, Y., Shingaki, S., Tabata, M., McClure, M.B., Yoshifuji, K., Matsumoto, S., Isaka, Y., *et al.* (2020). Landscape and function of multiple mutations within individual oncogenes. Nature 582, 95-99.
- Salesse, S., and Verfaillie, C.M. (2002). BCR/ABL: from molecular mechanisms of leukemia induction to treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia. Oncogene *21*, 8547-8559.
- Schouppe, E., Mommer, C., Movahedi, K., Laoui, D., Morias, Y., Gysemans, C., Luyckx, A., De Baetselier, P., and Van Ginderachter, J.A. (2013). Tumor-induced myeloid-derived suppressor cell subsets exert either inhibitory or stimulatory effects on distinct CD8+ T-cell activation events. Eur J Immunol 43, 2930-2942.
- Selvaraj, P., Yerra, A., Tien, L., and Shashidharamurthy, R. (2008). Custom designing therapeutic cancer vaccines: delivery of immunostimulatory molecule adjuvants by protein transfer. Hum Vaccin 4, 384-388.
- Shackleton, M., Quintana, E., Fearon, E.R., and Morrison, S.J. (2009). Heterogeneity in cancer: cancer stem cells versus clonal evolution. Cell *138*, 822-829.
- Shah, S.P., Roth, A., Goya, R., Oloumi, A., Ha, G., Zhao, Y., Turashvili, G., Ding, J., Tse, K., Haffari, G., *et al.* (2012). The clonal and mutational evolution spectrum of primary triple-negative breast cancers. Nature 486, 395-399.
- Shannan, B., Perego, M., Somasundaram, R., and Herlyn, M. (2016). Heterogeneity in Melanoma. Cancer Treat Res 167, 1-15.
- Shao, X., Lv, N., Liao, J., Long, J., Xue, R., Ai, N., Xu, D., and Fan, X. (2019). Copy number variation is highly correlated with differential gene expression: a pan-cancer study. BMC Med Genet 20, 175.

- Sharma, S.V., Lee, D.Y., Li, B., Quinlan, M.P., Takahashi, F., Maheswaran, S., McDermott, U., Azizian, N., Zou, L., Fischbach, M.A., *et al.* (2010). A chromatin-mediated reversible drugtolerant state in cancer cell subpopulations. Cell *141*, 69-80.
- Sharpe, P.T. (2001). Neural Crest and Tooth Morphogenesis. Advances in Dental Research 15, 4-7.
- Siravegna, G., Mussolin, B., Buscarino, M., Corti, G., Cassingena, A., Crisafulli, G., Ponzetti, A., Cremolini, C., Amatu, A., Lauricella, C., *et al.* (2015). Clonal evolution and resistance to EGFR blockade in the blood of colorectal cancer patients. Nature Medicine *21*, 795-801.
- Small, E.J., Sacks, N., Nemunaitis, J., Urba, W.J., Dula, E., Centeno, A.S., Nelson, W.G., Ando, D., Howard, C., Borellini, F., *et al.* (2007). Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor-secreting allogeneic cellular immunotherapy for hormone-refractory prostate cancer. Clin Cancer Res *13*, 3883-3891.
- Solomon, D.A., Kim, J.S., Ressom, H.W., Sibenaller, Z., Ryken, T., Jean, W., Bigner, D., Yan, H., and Waldman, T. (2009). Sample type bias in the analysis of cancer genomes. Cancer Res 69, 5630-5633.
- Song, H., Kim, T.O., Ma, S.Y., Park, J.H., Choi, J.H., Kim, J.H., Kang, M.S., Bae, S.K., Kim, K.H., Kim, T.H., *et al.* (2014). Intratumoral heterogeneity impacts the response to anti-neu antibody therapy. BMC Cancer 14, 647.
- Srivatsan, S., Patel, J.M., Bozeman, E.N., Imasuen, I.E., He, S., Daniels, D., and Selvaraj, P. (2014). Allogeneic tumor cell vaccines: the promise and limitations in clinical trials. Hum Vaccin Immunother 10, 52-63.
- Stronen, E., Toebes, M., Kelderman, S., van Buuren, M.M., Yang, W., van Rooij, N., Donia, M., Boschen, M.L., Lund-Johansen, F., Olweus, J., *et al.* (2016). Targeting of cancer neoantigens with donor-derived T cell receptor repertoires. Science 352, 1337-1341.

- Sundaram, G.M., Quah, S., and Sampath, P. (2018). Cancer: the dark side of wound healing. FEBS J 285, 4516-4534.
- Swanton, C. (2012). Intratumor heterogeneity: evolution through space and time. Cancer Res 72, 4875-4882.
- Swanton, C., McGranahan, N., Starrett, G.J., and Harris, R.S. (2015). APOBEC Enzymes: Mutagenic Fuel for Cancer Evolution and Heterogeneity. Cancer Discovery 5, 704-712.
- Szalayova, G., Ogrodnik, A., Spencer, B., Wade, J., Bunn, J., Ambaye, A., James, T., and Rincon, M. (2016). Human breast cancer biopsies induce eosinophil recruitment and enhance adjacent cancer cell proliferation. Breast Cancer Res Treat 157, 461-474.
- Talukdar, S., Emdad, L., Das, S.K., Sarkar, D., and Fisher, P.B. (2016). Evolving Strategies for Therapeutically Targeting Cancer Stem Cells. Adv Cancer Res 131, 159-191.
- Teschendorff, A.E., Gomez, S., Arenas, A., El-Ashry, D., Schmidt, M., Gehrmann, M., and Caldas, C. (2010). Improved prognostic classification of breast cancer defined by antagonistic activation patterns of immune response pathway modules. BMC Cancer 10, 604.
- Tirosh, I., Izar, B., Prakadan, S.M., Wadsworth, M.H., 2nd, Treacy, D., Trombetta, J.J., Rotem, A., Rodman, C., Lian, C., Murphy, G., *et al.* (2016). Dissecting the multicellular ecosystem of metastatic melanoma by single-cell RNA-seq. Science 352, 189-196.
- Trivanović, D., Krstić, J., Djordjević, I.O., Mojsilović, S., Santibanez, J.F., Bugarski, D., and Jauković,
   A. (2016). The Roles of Mesenchymal Stromal/Stem Cells in Tumor Microenvironment
   Associated with Inflammation. Mediators of Inflammation 2016, 7314016.
- Varol, C., Mildner, A., and Jung, S. (2015). Macrophages: Development and Tissue Specialization. Annual Review of Immunology *33*, 643-675.

- Vik-Mo, E.O., Nyakas, M., Mikkelsen, B.V., Moe, M.C., Due-Tonnesen, P., Suso, E.M., Saeboe-Larssen, S., Sandberg, C., Brinchmann, J.E., Helseth, E., *et al.* (2013). Therapeutic vaccination against autologous cancer stem cells with mRNA-transfected dendritic cells in patients with glioblastoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother *62*, 1499-1509.
- Vonderheide, R.H., and Nathanson, K.L. (2013). Immunotherapy at large: the road to personalized cancer vaccines. Nat Med *19*, 1098-1100.
- Wang, J.-C., Xu, Y., Huang, Z.-M., and Lu, X.-J. (2018). T cell exhaustion in cancer: Mechanisms and clinical implications. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 119, 4279-4286.
- Watnick, R.S. (2012). The role of the tumor microenvironment in regulating angiogenesis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2, a006676.
- Williams, M.J., Werner, B., Barnes, C.P., Graham, T.A., and Sottoriva, A. (2016). Identification of neutral tumor evolution across cancer types. Nature Genetics 48, 238-244.
- Xin Yu, J., Hubbard-Lucey, V.M., and Tang, J. (2019). Immuno-oncology drug development goes global. Nat Rev Drug Discov 18, 899-900.
- Yadav, M., and Delamarre, L. (2016). IMMUNOTHERAPY. Outsourcing the immune response to cancer. Science *352*, 1275-1276.
- Yan, X.J., Xu, J., Gu, Z.H., Pan, C.M., Lu, G., Shen, Y., Shi, J.Y., Zhu, Y.M., Tang, L., Zhang, X.W., et al. (2011). Exome sequencing identifies somatic mutations of DNA methyltransferase gene DNMT3A in acute monocytic leukemia. Nat Genet 43, 309-315.
- Yang, D., Denny, S.K., Greenside, P.G., Chaikovsky, A.C., Brady, J.J., Ouadah, Y., Granja, J.M., Jahchan, N.S., Lim, J.S., Kwok, S., *et al.* (2018). Intertumoral Heterogeneity in SCLC Is Influenced by the Cell Type of Origin. Cancer Discov 8, 1316-1331.

- Yates, L.R., Gerstung, M., Knappskog, S., Desmedt, C., Gundem, G., Van Loo, P., Aas, T., Alexandrov,
  L.B., Larsimont, D., Davies, H., *et al.* (2015). Subclonal diversification of primary breast cancer
  revealed by multiregion sequencing. Nat Med *21*, 751-759.
- Zheng, J. (2013). Oncogenic chromosomal translocations and human cancer (review). Oncol Rep *30*, 2011-2019.
- Zheng, P., Luo, Q., Wang, W., Li, J., Wang, T., Wang, P., Chen, L., Zhang, P., Chen, H., Liu, Y., *et al.* (2018). Tumor-associated macrophages-derived exosomes promote the migration of gastric cancer cells by transfer of functional Apolipoprotein E. Cell Death Dis *9*, 434.
- Zhou, X., Su, Y.X., Lao, X.M., Liang, Y.J., and Liao, G.Q. (2016). CD19(+)IL-10(+) regulatory B cells affect survival of tongue squamous cell carcinoma patients and induce resting CD4(+) T cells to CD4(+)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells. Oral Oncol 53, 27-35.